
 
 

Wednesday, 6 March 2013 
 

A meeting of the Shadow Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on 
Thursday, 21 March 2013, commencing at 3.00 pm 

The meeting will be held in the Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, 
Torquay 

 

 

Agenda 
 
1.   Apologies and Changes in Membership  
 To receive any apologies, including notifications of any changes to 

the membership of the Board. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 1 - 2) 
 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 

Board held on 21 January 2013. 
 

3.   Matters Arising from the Minutes  
 To consider any matters arising from the Minutes of the meeting of 

the Board held on 21 January 2013. 
 

4.   Future Working of the Health and Wellbeing Board (To Follow) 
 To consider a report on the above. 

 
(a)   Joint Commissioning (To Follow) 

 To consider a report on the above. 
 

5.   South Devon & Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group 
Integrated Plan 

(Pages 3 - 53) 

 To consider a report that seeks endorsement of the South Devon 
and Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group Integrated Plan 2013 - 
2016 
 

6.   Update Report - Clinical Commissioning Group (Pages 54 - 55) 
 To receive an update on the current position of the Clinical 

Commissioning Group. 
 

7.   Update Report - Adult Services (Pages 56 - 58) 
 To receive an update on the current position of Adult Services. 

 
8.   Update Report - Healthwatch (Pages 59 - 60) 
 To receive an update on the current position of Healthwatch. 

 
9.   Update Report - Children Services (Verbal Report) 
 To receive an update on the current position of Children’s Services. 



(ii) 

 
10.   Update Report - Public Health (To Follow) 
 To receive an update on the current position of Public Health. 

 
11.   Public Sector Equality Duty (Pages 61 - 79) 
 To receive a briefing on the Public Sector Equality Duty and the 

implications for the Board’s work over the coming year. 
 

 
 
Members of the Partnership 
 

 

Councillor Chris Lewis Torbay Council 

Councillor Christine Scouler Torbay Council 

Councillor Mike Morey Torbay Council 

Councillor Bobbie Davies Torbay Council 

Debbie Stark Director of Public Health 

Richard Williams Director of Children's Services 

Caroline Taylor Director of Adult Services 

Sam Barrell South Devon and Torbay Shadow Clinical Commissioning 

Group 

Kevin Dixon Local Involvement Network 

 
 



 
 

Min ut es  o f  t he  S h a d ow H ea l t h  a n d  W e l l be i n g  B oar d  
 

21 January 2013 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Members of the Partnership: 

Councillor Lewis (Chairman) Torbay Council 

Councillor Mike Morey Torbay Council 

Councillor Bobbie Davies Torbay Council 

Debbie Stark Director of Public Health 

Richard Williams Director of Children's Services 

Caroline Taylor Director of Adult Services 

Kevin Dixon Local Involvement Network 

  

Observers  

Simon Perkins Devon and Cornwall Probation Trust 

 

 
65. Apologies and Changes in Membership  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Board Members:  Councillor Scouler (Torbay 
Council) and Sam Barrell (South Devon and Torbay Shadow Clinical Commissioning 
Group – who was represented by Steve Wallwork). 
 
The Board was notified of a change to its membership; Anne Mattock has been replaced 
by Kevin Dixon (Acting Chair of LINk). 
 

66. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Shadow Health and Wellbeing Board held on 22 
November 2013 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

67. South Devon and Torbay Shadow Clinical Commissioning Group - Draft 
Commissioning Plan 2013/2014  
 
The Board was informed that from 1 April 2013 the Clinical Commissioning Group would 
become a formal body and as required, had compiled a draft commissioning plan for 
2013/2014.  Steve Wallwork advised the draft commissioning plan had been formulated 
taking account of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and Government Guidance.  The Board was also informed that it was best 
practice to have a draft commissioning plan set out as a one page summary which was 
presented to the Board for their views. 
 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Shadow Health and Wellbeing Board Monday, 21 January 2013
 

 
Whilst Members requested the opportunity to view the full draft commissioning plan, the 
Board were supportive of the draft commissioning plan, based upon the summary.  
Members welcomed the use of language that easily translated to local government, 
however they felt that partnership working should feature in the ‘vision’ with joint 
commissioning being given greater emphasis. 
 
Members of the Board were keen for a single outcome framework to be developed that 
would focus upon what could be achieved with shrinking resources. 
 
Agreed: That the Draft Commissioning Plan 2013/2014 be supported with the final 
agreement being delegated to the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 
 

68. Big Lottery Fund - Early Intervention Fund - A Better Start  
 
Richard Williams, Director of Children’s Services, informed the Board of a £50 million fund 
being administered by the Big Lottery Fund.  The fund could only be used for projects 
targeted at children of 0 to 3 years old with a focus on communication and language 
development, social development and nutrition.  The successful projects had to be led by 
a voluntary agency that was used to handling a high level of funding and cover an area of 
up to 50,000 people and draw together a number of voluntary and private sector partners.  
 
A board member suggested the troubled families agenda as a possible area to focus, with 
one or two unique selling points being used to make the bid stand out from the others. 
 

69. Partnership Commissioning for Communities Discussion Document  
 
Members were advised that as part of the wider strategic commissioning framework of the 
Council and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) it was agreed to explore opportunities 
for joint commissioning, shared priorities, collaborative budgets and shared staffing.  
Within this context proposals have been made to establish formal planning and delivery 
mechanisms in order to progress this work.  Member’s views were sought on the 
proposed options. 
 
Members expressed a preference for option two.  However members sought reassurance 
that both options would be cost effective and questioned the legitimacy of the Partnership 
Commissioning Board being a decision making authority. 
 
Agreed: that Option two, as set out in the submitted report, be supported. 
 

70. Date of Next Meeting  
 
The next meeting of the Shadow Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on 21 March 
2013 at 3.00 p.m. in the Town Hall, Torquay.  Members were informed that this meeting 
would consider the findings from the work to be undertaken by the Local Government 
Association (LGA) using the Health and Wellbeing Board Development Tool. 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 2



 

 

TORBAY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Title:  
 

South Devon & Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group Integrated Plan 

Wards Affected: 
 

All Wards 

To:  Torbay Health & Wellbeing Board 
 

On: 21st March 2013 

Contact:  Jo Turl 
Telephone:  01803 652486 
Email:  jo.turl@nhs.net 
 

1. Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to communicate the priorities of the South Devon 
& Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group and describe how these will be 
achieved. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) endorse the South Devon and 
Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group Integrated Plan 2013 - 2016. 

3. Supporting Information 

3.1 The Integrated Plan sets out the priorities and outcomes that the South Devon 
and Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group (SD&T CCG) will be working with 
partners to achieve in the next three years.  The priorities set out in the 
Integrated Plan are evidence-based and informed by all parts of the system, 
this involved the development of the first South Devon & Torbay Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), this along with other intelligence and 
benchmarking has informed the priorities and work streams. 

 
3.2 The ‘Plan on a Page’ was presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 21 

January 2013 and the Board is asked to endorse the full Integrated Plan. 

4. Relationship to Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

4.1 The Plan is built up from the evidence within the JSNA. 

5. Relationship to Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

5.1 The plan has previously been for comment at the HWBB and supports the 
priorities in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). 

6. Implications for future iterations of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and/or Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

6.1 There are no implications for future versions of the JSNA or JHWS as the 
Integrated Plan has been developed by the evidence in these documents. 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 3



 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – South Devon and Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group Integrated 
Plan 2013 - 2016 

Background Papers: 
The following documents/files were used to compile this report: 

None 

 

 

 

Page 4



Page 1 of 49 

 

          

 

South Devon and Torbay Clinical Commissioning 

Group  

Integrated Plan 2013 - 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Excellent, joined up care for everyone. 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1

Page 5



Page 2 of 49 

 

 

Contents 

1. Our Priorities – ‘Plan on a Page’   

2. Progress so Far 

2.1. Organisational Design 

2.2. Service Improvements 

2.3. Improving Outcomes & Key Indicators  

3. Our Community 

3.1. Local Context 

3.2. Locality Commissioning Groups 

3.3. Our Stakeholders & Partners 

3.4. Transforming the Care Delivery System 

3.5. Key Risks 

4. Focused on Quality 

4.1. Safety 

4.2. Effectiveness 

4.3. Patient Experience 

5. Commissioning Priorities 

5.1. Our Three Priorities 

5.2. Work Streams & Key Outcomes 

6. How we will Deliver 

6.1. Information Technology 

6.2. Innovation 

6.3. Communications 

6.4. Workforce 

6.5. Commissioning Support Arrangements 

7. Finance, Contracting & Performance 

7.1. Financial Plan 

7.2. Key Contracting Intentions 

7.3. Procurement 

Page 6



Page 3 of 49 

 

7.4. Performance Management 

 

Foreword 

This plan sets out the priorities and outcomes that the South Devon and Torbay 
Clinical Commissioning Group (SD&T CCG) will be working with partners to achieve 
in the next three years, so that we improve healthcare for our population and ensure 
the long-term sustainability of our local health and care services. 

2013/14 will be the first year of the clinical commissioning group – and the first time 
that commissioning has been led by healthcare professionals.  It will be a crucial 
year, in which maximising quality improvements, while maintaining financial stability, 
will be the focus. 

Involving patients and the public to improve key commissioning decisions around 

services is very important to us.  We will make the best use of patients’ experience 

in respect of the care they receive, by using the intelligence gained from patient and 

public feedback to influence decision-making and ensure that the right care is 

commissioned for the local population. 

We will be supported by the national reforms which will help to devolve decision-

making to patients and clinicians, with Health and Wellbeing Boards providing local 

leadership to deliver quality improvements.  The Health & Wellbeing Boards of 

Torbay and Devon have been integral to developing this plan and bringing together 

the alignment of priorities, across partner organisations, for the benefit of our 

communities. 

We know the next few years will be demanding. The quality and productivity 
challenge has already moved into its third year and the requirement for us to meet 
our financial efficiency commitments continues.  However, significant progress has 
already been made and we are confident the relationships we have built and the 
plans we are developing with partner organisations will allow us to make further 
steps towards delivering excellent, joined-up care for everyone in South Devon and 
Torbay. 

Within South Devon and Torbay we have a vision of a clinically joined-up system, 
building on the successes that we have seen through our clinical pathway groups, 
our integrated health and social care teams and joint commissioning arrangements. 
We believe that seamless care pathways and care packages will give patients 
higher-quality care, in a more cost-effective manner.  We see the acquisition of our 
local provider of community services, Torbay & Southern Devon Health and Care 
NHS Trust, as the next major step towards achieving a clinically joined-up system 
which can deliver the scale of efficiency savings needed to provide the services 
which will be required by our future population. 

To be the best clinical commissioners we must keep our focus unremittingly on our 
patients and our population, and we must ensure that the services we commission 
not only represent value for money but offer the best outcomes for each individual.  
We will take responsibility for using commissioning budgets to deliver high-quality, 
responsive and safe services for our patients. 

Page 7



Page 4 of 49 

 

Partnership working with local authorities, providers of health services and other 
organisations will be essential in ensuring all our plans fit together, and that further 
progress is made in providing joined-up care between services.  We will work 
closely with them to promote innovation and ensure there is a continued high level 
of services offered to patients and the people who use our services.   

Through our previous primary care trusts, we have a strong track record of delivery 
and in 2012/13 we made good progress in improving quality, meeting financial and 
performance targets, and working with GPs and partners to prepare for reform of 
commissioning structures. The next few years will be challenging but we are in a 
strong position to deliver our priorities, alongside the operational standards and 
outcome measures set out within the NHS Constitution and the “Everyone Counts” 
framework. The dedication that our staff have already demonstrated will be key in 
ensuring we continue to commission the best possible health and care for the 
people of South Devon and Torbay.  

       

 

Dr Sam Barrell    Dr Derek Greatorex 

  

Page 8



Page 5 of 49 

 

1 Our Priorities- ‘Plan on a Page’ 

In order to develop a set of priorities which are evidence-based and informed by all 
parts of the system, we have completed an extensive piece of information gathering 
and consultation. 

 

This has involved developing the first South Devon & Torbay Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA), which covers parts of two local authority areas, as a starting 
point. (See Appendix 1 for how this has informed the plan).  We have added other 
intelligence with benchmarking from the CCG Outcomes Benchmarking support 
pack from the NHS Commissioning Board, NHS comparators and others.  The 
priorities of the Health & Wellbeing Boards of Torbay and Devon and the Joined-Up 
Clinical Cabinet (the local group comprising clinicians and board members from all 
local providers, commissioners and local authorities), have informed our priorities 
and the work streams which sit below them.  We have used this information to 
inform discussions at the Governing Body, which have been further worked up with 
clinicians and localities. 

The ‘Plan on a Page’ sets out our vision for local services,  our responsibilities, our 
corporate priorities and our commissioning priorities, with the work streams which 
will deliver the key outcomes to achieve those priorities.  The ‘Plan on a Page’ 
reflects our statutory duties and fully covers the CCG Outcomes Indicators (see 
Appendix 2 for mapping).  Quality is at the heart of everything we do, and as such 
runs through all of our plans.  Our values and behaviour are important to defining 
our organisation and how we will go about achieving our priorities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



Page 6 of 49 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



Page 7 of 49 

 

2 Progress so Far  

2.1 Organisational Design 

The organisational model now in place for South Devon and Torbay CCG results 
from a consultative process undertaken throughout transition. It has been carefully 
crafted to support our vision of a clinically-led commissioning service, backed up by 
a capable and motivated workforce and informed by the views, experience and 
opinions of our population. 

We designed our new organisation based on a systems-thinking model, and were 
complimented on this during our authorisation process.  It comprises two elements:  
firstly, the structural considerations of delivery, decision-making and organisational 
governance and assurance, and secondly, the development of our people 
alongside a plan for the future. We are committed to making sure these elements 
are closely managed alongside one another; where one part of the system is 
changed, the whole system is affected. 

 

Element 1:  The architecture of our CCG 

The structural diagram (see Fig. 2) below shows our key organisational 
relationships.  The top right hand section describes the statutory CCG committees, 
while top left outlines the external bodies with which we will forge excellent 
relationships. One of these is the Joined-Up Cabinet:  the over-arching strategic 
body comprising top leaders from the local healthcare environment, who meet to 
support their common aim of achieving true local integration. The bottom left and 
right hand sides of the structure describe clinical commissioning, through redesign 
(on the right) and locality-led commissioning (on the left). A Clinical Commissioning 
Committee brings together the practice-led commissioning intentions of the 
localities with the improvement and innovation outputs of the redesign groups, thus 
ensuring cohesion with the corporate planning intentions of the organisation.   

Fig. 2 Key organisational relationship 

 

As required by statute, the Governing Body sits at the centre of the organisation 
and the key reporting arrangements, financial controls and systems of delegation 

Page 11



Page 8 of 49 

 

are in place and have been fully ratified by all of our practices through sign-off of 
our constitution.    

 

Element 2:  Clinical Development 

Our CCG enjoys excellence of clinical leadership as demonstrated by the 
appointment (through a highly selective process) of seven GPs to its Governing 
Body. This includes a chief clinical officer and a clinical chair, each with 100% 
support from our constituent practices. All GP leaders on our Governing Body have 
a management portfolio as well as a clear understanding of their corporate and 
strategic responsibilities. A programme of development for the Governing Body is in 
place, and includes a highly self-reflective approach to performance both in terms 
of outputs (‘what we achieved’) and team (‘how we achieve it’). The Governing 
Body is committed to retaining this approach to development for the foreseeable 
future. 

 

2.2 Service Improvements 

 

We have commissioned and led a vast number of service improvements this year, 
which have improved the consistency of services across the two areas of South 
Devon and Torbay. 

 

Among them, the virtual ward – a list of patients being actively case managed by a 
multidisciplinary team - was introduced in South Devon in late 2010.  We are 
continuing to work to maximise the benefits of integrated working between general 
practice and the wider community teams, and introduced the same model to Torbay 
in 2012.  When the full data for virtual ward patients for 2011/12 was analysed, 
South Devon was shown to have the most successful virtual wards in Devon, with 
the highest virtual-bed occupancy, the highest proportion of high-risk patients being 
case managed, and with the most significant reduction in hospital admissions for 
that cohort of patients.  In 2012, we won the Vision Award for Best Integrated Care 
Model, as well as the NHS Alliance Acorn Award for Best Example of Integrated 
Care.  The model has also been chosen by The King’s Fund as one of five 
demonstrator sites to study the care co-ordination of people with complex needs. 

 

During 2012 we extended our intermediate care service from Torbay into South 
Devon.  Intermediate care provides the local community with an alternative to 
hospital admission or long-term care and enables patients to be discharged from 
hospital more quickly by providing health and social care support. Patients may be 
cared for in their own homes or in short-term placements in nursing or residential 
homes.  The intermediate care service also seeks to enable the rehabilitation of 
patients to allow them to regain their independence as quickly as possible. 

 

We are piloting a single point of access for health and social care services in South 
Devon to see how best to introduce this system, already used highly successfully in 
Torbay.  The single point of access helps GPs arrange the right care for urgent and 
non-urgent referrals, helping to prevent avoidable hospital admissions and more 
effectively manage long-term conditions in the community.  

 

‘Just In Case’ bags are our locally adapted version of a national initiative, which is 
about anticipating the problems people can experience at the end of their life and 
ensuring sufficient supplies of medication are available in their home before they 

Page 12



Page 9 of 49 

 

are needed.  This makes it easier for patients who so choose to remain in their 
homes at the end stage of their lives.  They have been in use in Devon since 2011 
and we have now brought them into use in Torbay. 

We have been working with our secondary care colleagues and our care home 
providers to improve the quality of life of patients in care homes, reducing the 
numbers of hospital admissions.  Nurses from the medical admissions team now 
offer training and support to nurses in the nursing homes to enable them to give 
acute nursing treatments, such as intravenous treatments and blood transfusions. 
In residential homes the team itself delivers the acute nursing treatments, enabling 
patients to remain in the home rather than go to hospital. 

 

2.3 Improving Outcomes & Key Indicators 

 

We have continued to improve outcomes for patients and to achieve well against 
the NHS Outcomes Framework indicators.  In particular: 

• We have statistically lower levels of mortality for cardiovascular disease. 

• Emergency admissions for chronic conditions that can be looked after in 
primary care, e.g. asthma, are low compared with in other CCGs and have 
decreased this year as well.   

• We continue to have statistically better patient experience of GP services, both 
in and out of hours. 

• Patient experience of acute services continues to be very good. 

 

We have also maintained or improved performance against the NHS Constitution 
Operational Standards.  In particular: 

• Referral to treatment and diagnostic waiting times are continuing to reduce this 
year.  However, there are still some longer waits in orthopaedics which 
continue to be addressed. 

• Cancer waiting times indicators continue to be achieved. 

• Accident & Emergency national waiting times continue to be achieved. 

• The venous thromboembolism trajectory has been achieved and performance 
is being maintained. 

• The indicator for time spent on a stroke ward continues to be achieved. 

 

Current year to date performance of some of these key measures can be seen 
below: 

Page 13



Page 10 of 49 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



Page 11 of 49 

 

3 Our Community 

3.1 Local Context 

Our CCG extends from the South Devon coastline to the open moorland of 
Dartmoor (see Fig. 3). The CCG covers some 310 square miles and takes in a 
GP-registered population of around 284,500. 

Our picturesque area proves a popular retirement destination, with a noticeably 
higher proportion of older people resident in the area (shown in the population 
pyramid overleaf). We welcome and embrace this, at the same time as 
recognising the impact on the health and social care services that need to be 
provided.  This includes the management of long-term conditions, a higher 
number of injuries resulting from trips and falls, and the treatment of age-related 
diseases.  We also need to balance this with ensuring the health and social care 
needs of the rest of the population are also met. 

South Devon and Torbay is a popular tourist destination, attracting both day and 
longer-staying visitors. In the peak of the summer, there are estimated to be up to 
an extra 75,000 to 100,000 people visiting the area. 

 

Page 15



Page 12 of 49 

 

 
Fig 3. South Devon & Torbay CCG footprint, Source: 2012/13 JSNA. 
 

Using our JSNA enables us to understand our population and health needs in the 

forthcoming years. 

3.1.1 Population 

The area’s popularity as a retirement destination can be observed in the population 
pyramid (see Fig. 4).  The current average age in the South Devon and Torbay 
population is around 44.2 years, compared with an England average of around 
39.5 years. 

Page 16



Page 13 of 49 

 

 

 

Fig. 4 Population Pyramid, Source: 2012 GP registered list, 2011 interim subnational population 

projections (ONS) 

 
There is predicted to be a total registered population of around 300,000 in 2021 
(see Fig. 5).  The population projections for the South Devon area show a 
noticeable increase in the over 85 population between 2012 and 2021. 

 

Fig. 5, Registered population projections, Source: 2011 interim subnational population projections (ONS) 

modelled on 2010 LSOA population estimates (ONS), 2001 to 2009 Mid-Year Estimates, ONS. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



Page 14 of 49 

 

3.1.2 Deprivation 

Within the South Devon and Torbay area, there are pockets of severe deprivation, 
mainly in the urban areas such as Paignton and Torquay. The residents in these 
areas tend to experience noticeable inequalities, including lower life expectancy 
and higher rates of premature mortality. This is in part due to the higher prevalence 
of certain behaviour such as excess drinking and smoking. Other inequalities, 
including housing, employment and educational attainment also exist within these 
communities. 

The areas in red in the following map (see Fig. 6) are among the top 10% most 
deprived in England, while areas in dark blue are within the 10% to 20% most 
deprived in England. In contrast, the yellow areas are among the least deprived in 
England. 

 

Fig. 6 2010 Index of multiple deprivation, Source: Department for Communities and Local 

Government 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



Page 15 of 49 

 

3.1.3 Life Expectancy 

Overall, life expectancy is generally high within the CCG area, with a large number 
of communities experiencing significantly higher life expectancy than the England 
average (see Fig. 7). However, there are pockets where life expectancy is 
significantly lower than the England average; these are communities within larger 
areas such as Newton Abbot, Paignton, Teignmouth and Torquay. 

 

Fig. 7 Life Expectancy at Birth,  Source: Source: PCMD, GP registered list, Information centre 

There is a well-evidenced relationship between poorer communities (in terms of 
income) and poorer health outcomes such as life expectancy. People in our more 
deprived communities do tend to die earlier than those in the least deprived; they 
also tend to live longer with poorer health, such as disabilities or morbidities. 

Nationally, in the more deprived communities there is a gap of some 17 years 
between the number of years people live, and the number of those years they live 
without a disability. Within the South Devon and Torbay CCG area, data suggests 
that females in the most deprived communities live for around 20 years of their life 
with a disability. The gap is smaller, around 14 years, for those in the least deprived 
communities in South Devon and Torbay. 

3.2 Locality Commissioning Groups 

Our Governing Body has established a set of five groups known as the Locality 
Commissioning Groups (LCGs).  They comprise representatives from the practices:  
GPs, practice managers and patients.  Through these groups, local commissioning 
can reflect local needs.  

The purpose of the Locality Commissioning Groups is to support the development of 
our CCG as a membership organisation, enable commissioning at a locality level, 
and to enable local engagement with GP member practices.  Through them, local 
health needs, priorities and gaps in service provision are considered in the 
commissioning process.  Each locality has developed its own commissioning plan, 
(see Appendix 3) and these have helped to define the priorities and work streams 
described in this plan. The localities are represented at the Clinical Commissioning 
Committee by their clinical and managerial leads. They are also responsible for the 
delivery, in partnership with other colleagues, of the locality plans. 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



Page 16 of 49 

 

3.3 Our Stakeholders and partners 

 

Strong partnership working will be vital if we are to deliver good quality services and 
tackle the wider factors that determine or contribute to ill health. 
 
Our CCG is committed to working with our partners in both Torbay Local Authority 
and Devon County Council, with community organisations, the NHS 
Commissioning Board, our providers and neighbouring CCGs to achieve 
improvements across the whole health economy and to address the wider 
inequalities that exist in people’s health. 

As set out at 2.1, our Joined Up Cabinet has been involved in developing this 
approach and will continue to be a driving force across the community to ensure we 
can work as one to achieve the outcomes and goals we have set as our priorities.  

Through our membership of the NEW Devon CCG Partnerships Commissioning 
Programme Board and the Torbay Partnership Commissioning Board we can 
consider a joint approach to commissioning for key specific population groups, 
reducing duplication and making the most effective use of our resources and 
capacity. 

Our CCG is actively engaged with the Health and Wellbeing Boards in Torbay and 
Devon, having a seat on each.  This means we have been involved in the 
development of the health and wellbeing strategies and the boards’ priority setting 
for preventive health – helping ensure these dovetail with our own priorities.   The 
boards enable a joined-up approach across the NHS, Adult Social Services and 
Children’s Services to tackling the health needs of our local communities. 

We will be maintaining the strong relationship we have with colleagues in Public 
Health, who have moved to the two local authorities.  This relationship will aid the 
joint commissioning of services, and ensure we can benefit from the expertise of 
our public health colleagues through the ‘Core Offer.  

The NHS in South Devon and Torbay has a long tradition of engaging with and 
commissioning services from the community and voluntary sector.  We have built 
positive relationships with voluntary sector leaders and their organisations, and 
recognise both their knowledge and skills, and the trust that the people who use 
their services have in them.  

We will also work with Healthwatch Devon and Healthwatch Torbay, the new 
organisations that will act as the patient voice in health and social care.  Patient 
Participation Groups are becoming well established in many areas, and our locality 
commissioning groups will build relationships with them and other groups across 
their local communities.  At a local level, we will play a part in neighbourhood 
planning groups and community partnerships.  

The CCG will work alongside the NHS Commissioning Board Area Team for Devon 
and Cornwall, particularly on primary care services, and with the Specialist 
Commissioning Group to ensure patients have access to more specialist services 
when they are needed. 

Local Professional Networks will also be an integral part of the NHS 
Commissioning Board. Local Professional Networks for dentistry, optometry, and 
pharmacy will be built into the Commissioning Board Area Team, providing local 
intelligence and expertise for the local commissioning infrastructure.  

Page 20



Page 17 of 49 

 

3.4 Transforming the Care Delivery System 

Our vision is to have joined up care for all. We believe that services should be based 
on populations in local communities, the obvious starting point being the 
communities served by GP practices. We also believe that services should be built 
on patient needs not organisational imperatives.  
 
We wish to promote well-being and independence and will require all providers to 
move away from an institutional bed based model of care to a delivery system that is 
flexible and responsive to the changing needs of our populations.  Over the next 
three years we will expect to see a reduction in inpatient beds in line with the 
evidence we have already collected. We have undertaken 3 consecutive Acuity 
Audits that all clearly state that with additional personal care services 30 - 40% of 
patients cared for in a community hospital bed could be at home. 
 
Our local provider of community services, Torbay & Southern Devon Health and 
Care NHS Trust has decided against becoming a standalone Foundation Trust. As 
such, in 2013/14 they will need to be acquired by another organisation. The process 
of acquisition, which will be overseen by the NHS Trust Development Authority, the 
Co-operation and Competition Panel, and Monitor, is expected to conclude during 
2013/14. Commissioners will have a key input in approving the acquisition 
integrated business plan (IBP) in May; this will include CCGs, NCB Area Team, and 
Local Authority commissioners. 
 
The CCG view this as the major underpinning opportunity to realise our vision of 
joined up, patient centred, community based services. South Devon Healthcare 
Foundation NHS Trust are the sole bidder in the acquisition process. We are 
working closely with the Trust to ensure their Outline Business Case is completely 
aligned to this commissioning plan.  
 
We are working with the Trust on detailed infrastructure (hospital estate and IT but 
also the location of services) and workforce plans however these will not be 
available as part of the acquisition IBP although it is intended to give a broad 
direction of travel describing a refocusing on more community based services - 
resulting in a reduction in acute outpatient attendances, which are better configured 
geographically closer to patients homes. 
 
Through the acquisition and into 20014/15 we expect to see a transfer of resources 
from inpatient beds to care provided in person's homes. To deliver this we would 
expect to see a shift in the current workforce configuration to more community 
based teams, delivering 7 day a week services.  For example, the diabetes nurses 
which work as an integrated team across the acute and community, which we plan 
to deliver in other specialties e.g. epilepsy and heart failure. 
 
The CCG is keen to support a model that realises this change. This does require the 
production of detailed infrastructure and workforce plans which describe the 
redesigned health and social care system and which describes a system capable of 
responding to higher demand, but at the same or reduced cost (in real terms). 
Further work to specify detailed infrastructure and workforce plans will therefore 
continue in 2013/14. 
 

3.5 Key Risks 
 

We are committed to a risk management strategy that minimises risks to all our 
stakeholders through a comprehensive system of internal controls while providing 

Page 21



Page 18 of 49 

 

maximum potential for flexibility, innovation and best practice as we seek to 
achieve our priorities. 

The aim of our risk management process is to provide a systematic and consistent 
framework through which our priorities are pursued.  This involves identifying risks, 
threats and opportunities for achieving these objectives and taking steps to mitigate 
the risks and threats. An integrated approach will be taken so that lessons learned 
in one area of risk can be quickly spread to another area of risk. 

Some of the specific risks currently highlighted are as follows: 

Although the NHS locally has a good track record in delivering the key operational 
standards and outcome indicators, we recognise that the next few years in 
particular will be challenging.  We know that we have an increasingly elderly 
population and so far during 2012/13 we have seen a 6% increase in emergency 
admissions from the previous year.  National Standardised Admission Rates (Dr 
Foster) show that we have a lower than expected emergency admission rate, which 
means we will have to go further than before and further than other CCGs have 
gone in order to reduce this (actions described in section 5). 

Waiting times overall for planned and emergency care are very good locally but we 
still have some patients waiting too long for orthopaedic operations.  During 
2014/15 we plan to meet the NHS Constitution requirement of ensuring no patient, 
except where there is a medical reason, has to wait beyond 18 weeks for a planned 
operation.  In order to achieve this as soon as possible, we have asked South 
Devon Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust for a detailed trajectory and activity plan, 
which makes use of capacity available at both public and private sector providers.  

We have a very stretching target for reducing the incidence of Clostridium Difficile 
next year.  We plan to tackle this by focusing on prevention and working closely 
with our local providers and local authority (for more detail see section 4.1.2).  

 

  

Page 22



Page 19 of 49 

 

4 Focused on Quality  

The NHS Constitution sets out how the NHS aspires to the highest standards of 
excellence and professionalism – in the provision of high-quality care that is safe, 
effective and focused on patient experience, and in the planning and delivery of the 
clinical and other services it provides. We will ensure we have the NHS Constitution 
at the forefront of our CCG and that, as commissioners, we act as the advocate of 
patients and carers, and our wider public.  

Our CCG constitution upholds all the values and pledges made in the NHS 
Constitution. By actively seeking and listening to patient and carer feedback, 
putting in place robust governance arrangements for assuring the quality of care 
given by our providers and by contract monitoring, we will be able to provide on-
going assurance of quality of care, and take action where care is found to be in 
need of improvement.  

We consider that building a new relationship with patients and local communities is 
key to establishing our CCG as a real advocate of high quality care on behalf of all 
our communities.  Supporting the improvement of quality where we identify poor 
care, and rewarding good quality where that is evidenced will be at the heart of our 
work and we will focus on ensuring the best possible outcomes for all of our 
population. 

The Francis report on the failings at the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust 
has implications for the entire health service and this includes commissioning 
activities and quality and safety assurance. We are digesting the learning and 
recommendations in the report and will work with the NHS Commissioning Board to 
ensure that any new enhanced quality standards are applied locally by all of our 
commissioned providers.  We will work with our providers to determine how we can 
offer support if poor, unsafe or sub-standard services are identified, with a view to 
rapidly and sustainably improving quality and safety.  We will also be active 
members of the Quality Surveillance Committee, working with our local 
commissioning partners to share information and find ways to best tackle poor 
quality care for our patients. 

We very much welcome the Chief Nursing Officer’s ‘Compassion in Practice’ 
document, outlining the need for a focus on “the 6 Cs” – compassion, courage, 
communication, competency, care (quality/safety) and commitment.  We have 
already built an operating principle into our contracts with providers, specifically 
focused on care and compassion, dignity and respect. We will be reviewing this 
operating principle to ensure that it is fully aligned to the 6Cs, and that we work with 
our providers and listen to patients and their families, to ensure that we can identify 
where care is not being provided to these high standards. 

One dimension of the NHS Outcomes Framework covers the commissioning and 
provision of safe, harm-free care.  We will continue to hold central the principle of 
caring for people safely and will monitor the delivery of harm-free care in all our 
providers. To do this we will use the NHS Safety Thermometer and other processes 
we have in place, including the monitoring of all Serious Incidents and the reporting 
rates of patient safety incidents.  We will work closely with our providers to ensure 
that they apply the Duty of Candour when incidents occur, and that they 
demonstrate learning from incidents and events where near misses or actual harm 
has occurred. 

The NHS Outcomes Framework shifts the focus from measuring processes to 
measuring outcomes for patients. The Framework covers the following areas: 

Page 23



Page 20 of 49 

 

Domain 1 Preventing people from dying 

prematurely 

Domain 2 Enhancing quality of life for people 

with long-term conditions 

Domain 3 Helping people to recover from 

episodes of ill health or following 

injury 

Domain 4 Ensuring people have a positive 

experience of care 

Domain 5 Treating and caring for people in a 

safe environment; and protecting 

them from avoidable harm 

Fig. 8 The Five Domains 

We will work with Health and Wellbeing Boards and other partners to review and 
publish progress against the NHS Outcomes Framework (and other quality 
indicators including National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence quality 
standards) and identify where improvements can be made. We will join this 
information up with what we are hearing from patient and carer stories and make 
sure this influences our commissioning decision-making. 

4.1 Safety 

4.1.1 Safeguarding 

 
Provision of high-quality, safe services is the organising principle of the NHS and 
we need to assure ourselves that the services we commission safeguard both 
adults and children.  Statutory duties under sections 11 and 13 of the Children Act 
2004 apply to CCGs. This includes the duties to safeguard and promote the welfare 
of children, and to have an active membership role in Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Boards. It is known that for looked-after children, outcomes and access 
to healthcare are often worse than for other children and the CCG has a duty to 
work with local authorities to provide support and services to children in need.   

We will work in active partnership with local authorities through Safeguarding 
Children Boards and Local Safeguarding Adult Boards to ensure that the needs of 
the most vulnerable are safeguarded. There will be a focus on a proactive 
approach to commissioning and contracting of individual placements, and 
strengthened quality assurance mechanisms for placements in and out of the 
county.   

The Four Equality Delivery System Goals are:   

• Better health outcomes for all 

• Improved patient access and experience 

• Empowered, engaged and included staff; and  

• Inclusive leadership at all levels.    

Page 24



Page 21 of 49 

 

We have clinical leads for both safeguarding children and safeguarding adults to 
ensure that the Governing Body has a firm grasp of the issues facing vulnerable 
adults and children in healthcare. There will be a robust strategy for safeguarding 
adults and children so we are able to carry out our statutory duties to keep people 
from harm in healthcare. This is being developed jointly with the other CCG in 
Devon to ensure compatibility of processes, and to prevent gaps between services.  

As with all areas of quality and patient safety, we will work to ensure that the voice 
of individuals is heard. We will actively seek to listen to the experiences of people 
who have been through the safeguarding processes, and use their experiences to 
feed into the Safeguarding Adults and Children’s Boards. 

4.1.2 Healthcare Associated Infections 

Reducing healthcare-associated infections is high on our CCG’s safety and quality 
agenda and we will ensure we lead the local health community in concerted efforts 
to reduce them.  We do not accept that these infections are an inevitable part of or 
an acceptable risk related to health or social care.  We will support providers, while 
holding them to account for their performance with regards to surveillance of 
infections and the implementation and sustained improvement of infection control 
practices and procedures.   

Our CCG will lead the local health and social care community in developing a 
refreshed and joint action plan to reduce the incidence of Clostridium difficile and 
MRSA bacteraemia.   A health community management plan is being developed, 
and will be monitored by the CCG Quality Committee.  Root cause analysis is 
undertaken for all notified Clostridium Difficile cases and we will ensure that 
incidents are thoroughly investigated and lessons learned.   Our CCG has a named 
clinical lead, an infection control lead and a managerial lead who will work with the 
local Director of Infection Prevention and Control to ensure maximum 
understanding of why the incidence of infection occurred. 

Our CCG has a very challenging objective set for the incidence of Clostridium 
Difficile for the year ahead which will require a multi-faceted approach to ensuring 
reduction of cases. The plan will focus on prevention, and will include working with 
GPs to monitor antibiotic prescribing and to ensure that local prescribing of 
antibiotics and proton pump inhibitors appropriate.  Our CCG will also work with the 
local authority to raise public awareness and to ensure that patients and the wider 
public know about the preventive measures they can take to protect themselves or 
the people they care for from becoming vulnerable to infection. 

We will work with neighbouring CCGs to ensure a shared approach to learning from 
incidents and we will also include within all contracts an operating principle for 
healthcare-associated infections that sets out provider obligations and quality 
requirements.   

4.2 Effectiveness 

4.2.1 Quality Governance 
 

As part of the clinical governance arrangements there is a Quality sub-committee to 
the CCG Governing Body. This is chaired by the Governing Body lead for patient 
safety and quality. The committee has an annual work plan to receive annual 
reports about quality issues such as safeguarding, healthcare-associated 
infections, equality and diversity, information governance, patient safety, 
implementation of quality standards from the National Institute for Health and 

Page 25



Page 22 of 49 

 

Clinical Excellence and other topics.  The committee receives assurances and any 
escalated issues or risks identified by the commissioning quality improvement and 
patient safety group (CQIPS). Minutes from the Quality Committee are received by 
the Governing Body every month, accompanied by a chair’s report.   
 
CQIPS receives risk-based reports on various aspects of quality, such as 
complaints and concerns, infection control, safeguarding adults and children, 
medicines management, patient safety and clinical effectiveness. The Committee is 
chaired by the safeguarding lead and minutes from the meeting are received by the 
Quality Committee.  Commissioning leads have membership of both the Quality 
Committee and CQIPS, to ensure that issues of quality and safety are picked up by 
those responsible for commissioning care pathways.  
 
The Governing Body also receives a monthly quality report, which covers national, 
regional and local quality issues, as well as provider quality assurance information. 
This document, combined with the performance data presented to the Governing 
Body, provides the CCG with a holistic view of the state of quality in the locality, 
and will alert them to risks that need addressing or any national issues that require 
action or translation locally. 
 
Our CCG has instigated a child health and safeguarding group, chaired by the 
clinical lead for safeguarding children and maternity.  The group’s remit is to have 
oversight over child protection and safeguarding issues and duties under Section 
11 and 13, as well as to ensure that the CCG has a focus on commissioning the 
best, high quality care for all children.  This group reports into the Quality 
Committee and will be responsible for monitoring safeguarding children action 
plans.  
 
The quality team and the various contract leads work together to ensure that 
regular quality review meetings take place with all providers, seeking on-going 
assurance of good quality care and with a focus on the experience of people who 
use the services, either as patients or as carers. Evidence from patients and care 
professionals that indicates care is below expected standards will prompt an 
enquiry and follow-up, and we will work to support providers to improve their care 
standards.  From April 2013, all quality review meetings will be part of the regular 
performance and contracting meetings with providers; this will promote the 
integration of quality issues into the performance and finance agenda so that 
quality is always considered when commissioning decisions are made. 
 

4.2.2 Quality Assurance in Primary Care 

Improving the quality of primary care is one of the statutory functions of the CCG 
and we will be working with the NHS Commissioning Board Area Team to improve 
the quality of services and develop a primary care development strategy. The 
quality of primary care across the CCG is generally good but it is important to 
ensure that this is monitored and that supportive development to improve quality 
continues. The quality of primary medical services will be reported on quarterly to 
the commissioning for quality and patient safety (CQUIPs) committee and any risks 
will be escalated to the Governing Body via the Quality Committee. 

 

4.2.3 NICE Quality Standards 

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) quality standards are a 
set of specific, concise statements and associated measures setting out 

Page 26



Page 23 of 49 

 

aspirational but achievable markers of high-quality, 
cost-effective patient care, covering the treatment and 
prevention of different conditions and diseases. 

We will ensure that Clinical Pathway Groups consider 
relevant NICE quality standards as part of their quality 
impact assessment. 

We will continue to drive the measurement of 
outcomes and indicators in relation to quality of care 
and to drive local improvements in quality and 
outcomes for patients.  This will be done through the 
work of the Clinical Pathway Groups and by using the 
Commissioning Outcomes Framework, the NICE 
quality standards and other measures to demonstrate 
progress to the NHS Commissioning Board, the wider public and stakeholders. 
 

4.2.4 Values-based Operating Principles 

In addition to the quality requirement set out in the NHS Contract with providers, we 
have developed a suite of values-based operating principles that are embedded in 
the major contracts and which we plan to include in smaller contracts in the future. 
These operating principles, jointly developed with providers, set out commissioning 
intentions and provider requirements against a set of quality issues, which all align 
to the quality domains and the NHS Outcomes Framework.  

The operating principles provide a means of gaining assurance from our providers 
that they are meeting the quality requirements central to each operating principle. 
There are currently 10 operating principles covering a range of areas including:  
privacy, dignity and respect, healthcare acquired infections, safeguarding adults 
and children, medicines management, and nutrition and hydration. A programme of 
in-depth reviews for gaining assurance against the operating principles is included 
in the Quality Committee work plan. 

The operating principles agreed so far can be seen at Appendix 4. 

 

4.3 Patient Experience 

4.3.1 Using Feedback from Patients and the wider community 

We will ensure we are: 

• Listening – making it easy to give feedback, providing good information about 
providing feedback or making a complaint, getting complaints-handling right first 
time and ensuring people’s rights under the NHS Constitution are met. 

• Responding – able to handle the complaint at the level it requires, support people 
when they make complaints and ensure they are not disadvantaged by raising their 
concerns; mediate when issues can’t be resolved; investigate concerns or cause 
concerns to be investigated.  

• Improving – by using the intelligence gained from patient and public feedback to 
influence commissioning decision-making or to change the way the CCG or its 
processes works, by providing training for CCG staff and members as a result of 
such intelligence and in handling complaints 

“GPs are very important – they know my 

medical history and can assess the need 

for treatment or referral quickly.” 

 “The preventative work done by the GP 

practice is invaluable.” 

What would you change?  

“A single contact point that could direct 

you to the most appropriate place” 

Page 27



Page 24 of 49 

 

Additionally, there are systems and processes in place for monitoring and acting on 
feedback received through less formal channels. Patients and their families or 
carers, and indeed other people who witness poor care, need to be able to raise 
concerns quickly and easily.  

What is learned from such feedback will inform an overall picture of the quality of 
care and of patient safety, where all our information is joined together. This way, 
early warning of risks to patient safety or a failing provider can be spotted and the 
appropriate commissioning actions taken. 

The processes for receiving and acting on complaints and concerns raised is part 
of our wider focus on patient experience, and will dove-tail with other initiatives 
described elsewhere particularly with the use of the Friends and Family Test, 
Patient and Care Opinion and Healthwatch.  

 

4.3.2 Complaints Management  

As well as proactively seeking feedback from patients and the wider community, we 
will have arrangements in place to handle any complaints raised within the statutory 
complaints management framework.  We will ensure: 

• The public will have information easily available to tell them how to make a 
complaint  

• There will be systems in place for recording and managing complaints, and taking 
actions as a result. 

• Complaints will be dealt with efficiently and be properly investigated. 

• People who make complaints will know the outcome of their complaint 
investigation.  

• The public will be told what has been learned from complaints and what actions 
have been taken to improve the quality of care and patient experience. 

• We will acknowledge when mistakes happen, apologising, explaining what went 
wrong and putting things right quickly and effectively. 
 

4.3.3 Feedback from Healthcare Professionals – Yellow Card Scheme 

We will put in place a ‘Yellow Card Scheme’ for GPs to use to alert our CCG of any 
issues of concern that they wish to raise. The Yellow Card Scheme is planned to be 
a single point of contact by phone or by email to the quality and patient safety team. 
This information may be about a patient-safety issue or feedback of patient 
experience but will all add to the quality of care intelligence gathered by the quality 
team. Where necessary an investigation will be initiated, or trends and individual 
issues will be fed back to care providers and learning shared with commissioning 
teams to help ensure that quality issues are considered when planning or reviewing 
services. 

 

4.3.4 Equality and Diversity 

Equality must lie at the heart of the work of our CCG to ensure the needs of all 
patients are met.  We are committed to reducing inequality, to improving quality of 
care and patient experience. 

Page 28



Page 25 of 49 

 

Mindful of our public sector duty under the Equalities Act, we will ensure that 
people who might not normally get heard are asked for their views. It is known that 
people with the most complex needs and the worst experience of care are rarely 
asked for their insights by commissioners or providers. We will engage with 
Healthwatch in both Torbay and Devon, with interest groups locally and with hard-
to-reach individuals and groups directly, and ensure their opinions are fed into the 
commissioning process. 

 

4.3.5 Involving Patients and Communities in Planning and Designing 
Services. 

We know that involving people in planning and influencing commissioning is vital, 
and that shared decision-making at an individual patient level and at the collective 
level is more likely to lead to supported, legitimised and value-for-money health-
care decisions for the community. 

All the clinical pathway groups will connect with patients with our support. We will 
also be working with Patient Participation Groups in the various communities and 
localities to ensure their voice is heard by the clinical pathway groups.  

 

4.3.6 Transparency and Accountability 

Transparency and accountability to the public is one of the CCG’s core values, and 
this will be reflected in our relationships with stakeholders, patients and their carers, 
and the wider communities we serve. The availability and transparency of 
information is key to ensuring patients and the public are able to exercise informed 
choice in the services they receive and can help drive improvement.   

During the next two years we will continue to focus on improving access to 
information for the public and in particular access to information regarding the 
quality and safety of services to inform choice. 

 

  

Page 29



Page 26 of 49 

 

5 Commissioning Priorities 

 

5.1 Our three commissioning priorities 
 
As set out in our Plan on a Page and developed in conjunction with our partners the 
following high-level priorities have been agreed: 

• Promoting self-care, prevention and personal responsibility. 

• Developing joined-up patient-centred community services (including 
mental health), closer to home. 

• Leading a sustainable health and care system, encompassing 
workforce, estate and IT. 

In order to measure whether we have made improvements for patients within these 
overarching priorities we have chosen three specific areas to set trajectories for 
improvement as part of the Quality Premium, which are as follows: 

• Reduce alcohol admissions through the use of proactive case 
management (see section 5.2.2). 

• Reduce emergency admissions from care homes (see section 5.2.2). 

• Reduce the length of time patients have to wait from assessment to 
treatment for mental health conditions (see section 5.2.4). 

These measures will form part of our ‘CCG Progress Monitoring Dashboard’ for 
next year (along with the key indicators for activity and finance and also progress 
against the CCG Outcomes Framework). This dashboard will be reviewed by the 
CCG’s Business Planning and Performance group (see sections 7.4.2 and 7.4.3 for 
more detail) on a monthly basis, with progress reports to the Clinical 
Commissioning Committee every quarter. 

 

5.2 Work streams & key outcomes 
 
In order to deliver our three overarching commissioning priorities, and improve 
quality in line with the Commissioning Outcomes Framework, the following work 
streams have been identified, and described over the next three years: 
 
5.2.1 Primary Care 
 
Evidence Base 

The Deloitte report on the future of primary care (2012) highlights the importance of 
primary care: 90% of all patient contacts are made in primary care.  Consultations 
have increased over the last ten years and the challenges of an ageing population 
with more patients living with long- term conditions look set to place further 
demands on the service.  Spending on primary care has risen by only modest 
amounts in the last few years. 

The 2012/13 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment makes reference to the role of 
primary care in a number of areas, including the role of primary care in tackling 
hospital admissions, managing health through prevention and optimal management 
of chronic conditions.  The impact on primary care of managing long-term 
conditions is significant with 50% of all GP appointments being for long-term 
conditions. 

Page 30



Page 27 of 49 

 

CCG Outcomes Indicators 

The following indicators in the 2013/14 CCG Outcomes Indicator Set will be tackled 
through this work stream: 

• C2.3 People with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease & Medical 
Research Council dyspnoea scale ≤3 referred to a pulmonary rehabilitation 
programme.  

• C2.4 People with diabetes who have received nine care processes.  

• C2.5 People with diabetes diagnosed less than one year referred to 
structured education. 

• C4.1 Patient experience of GP out of hour’s services. 
 
Key outcomes to be achieved 

• To increase the capacity in primary care in order to treat more patients, only 
going to secondary care where absolutely necessary. 

• To encourage collaboration between practices, to deliver the best services 
for patients, when it is needed. 

Key pieces of work to be undertaken 

This year we will establish a primary care re-design group to take forward the 
primary care strategy and outcomes for primary care.  The group will include 
clinical and management representation from the CCG, members of the Local 
Medical Committee and the NHS Commissioning Board Area Team.  We will 
devise and implement a primary care quality dashboard to better understand, and 
seek to reduce, variation in quality and access. 

We will commission and engage practices in organisational development 
programmes designed to focus on improved access and patient experience 
including Dr First, Productive General Practice and the Primary Care Foundation’s 
‘Urgent Access in Primary Care’ scheme.  We plan to see a 2% reduction in total 
emergency admissions from those practices participating in these schemes. 

We will ensure that primary care capacity and demand considerations are part of 
the whole system re-design work being undertaken as part of the Joined Up 
Cabinet work. 

As a result of patient feedback outlined in section 4.3.1, all re-design boards will 
continue to identify elements of care pathways where care may be delivered closer 
to patients, for both planned and unplanned care, and also where the preventative 
agenda can be progressed further.  This work will need to include quantification of 
the workload for primary care and the resources necessary to achieve change. 

In years two and three we will implement the primary care strategy devised in year 
one and reduce variation in quality and in access to primary care services.  We will 
evaluate the three organisational development programmes to establish what 
works best from each scheme and share the learning points.  We will secure and 
provide additional targeted investment in primary care to recognise quality 
improvements, capacity issues and access developments. 

 

 

 

Locality Focus 

Moor to Sea locality has identified primary care as a particular priority. It will 

be developing capacity in primary care to improve the management of long-

term conditions and urgent care and also ensuring good access to 

appropriate care.  It wants to enable joined-up working between primary 

care, district nurses, care homes, social services, mental health services 

and the voluntary sector. 
Page 31



Page 28 of 49 

 

5.2.2 Community Care 
 
Evidence Base 

The over 85 population is expected to increase from 3.9% in 2012 to 4.8% in 2021 
in South Devon & Torbay, higher than the national average.  On average older 
people cost the most per head with regards to hospital care. 

A higher number of people are expected to suffer from long-term conditions:  
conditions that cannot be cured but can be controlled through treatment and 
behaviour.   People with long-term conditions are the most frequent users of 
healthcare services.  They account for 29% of the population, but use 50% of all 
GP appointments and 70% of all inpatient bed days. 

Across South Devon and Torbay there is estimated to be unmet need for patients 
with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) in the region of 3,300 (1.2%).  
We know that COPD patients can be supported to live with their condition, both 
through self-care and through multi-disciplinary team support in the community.  By 
actively targeting this population we can reduce the number of emergency 
admissions caused by an exacerbation of symptoms caused by poor self-care. 

The rates of unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive 
conditions (chronic conditions that can often be managed in primary care) are 
highest in the Torquay locality. We need to identify and work with these patients to 
ensure they are being managed without the need for secondary care.  The number 
of people with co-morbidities is expected to rise by a third in the next ten years in 
order to address this we need to develop care plans that treat the patient as a 
whole, not per condition.   

CCG Outcomes Indicators 

The following indicators in the 2013/14 CCG Outcomes Indicator Set will be tackled 
through this work stream: 

• C1.1 Combined indicator on potential years of life lost (PYLL) from causes 
considered amenable to healthcare adults and children and young people. 

• C1.6 Under 75 mortality from respiratory disease. 

• C2.1 Health-related quality of life for people with long term conditions. 

• C2.2 People feeling supported to manage their condition. 

• C2.6 Unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive 
conditions in adults. 

• C2.8 Complications associated with diabetes including emergency admission 
for diabetic ketoacidosis and lower limb amputation. 

• C3.1 Emergency admissions for acute conditions that should not usually 
require hospital admission. 

• Improving the experience of care for people at the end of their lives – TBC. 

• Improving people’s experience of integrated care – TBC. 

• Improving recovery from injuries and trauma – TBC. 

• Improving recovery from fragility fractures – TBC. 

• Helping older people to recover their independence after illness or injury – 
TBC. 

• Enhancing quality of life for carers – TBC. 

Key outcomes to be achieved 

Page 32



Page 29 of 49 

 

• To achieve fully joined-up and cost-effective seven-day services from the 
acquisition process. 

• To increase the number of patients who are actively case managed to avoid 
unnecessary hospitalisation and reduce bed based care. 

 

Key pieces of work to be undertaken 

This year we will build on the virtual ward model, ensuring full multi-disciplinary 
input, including secondary care outreach, and virtual bed allocation according to 
risk score not practice size.  We will use risk stratification to identify the top 5% high 
risk patients and develop active care plans for early intervention to increase their 
health and well-being, reduce their likelihood of emergency admissions and embed 
the principles of self-care into their care plans. 

The acquisition process offers an opportunity for the system to move a step closer 
to our vision of excellent, joined up, seamless care for our population. The removal 
of organisational  boundaries provides a chance to remove duplication and ensure 
the patient receives the right care, optimising the outcomes. Through the integrated 
business plan for acquisition we expect to see a reduction in the cost base of the 
system. Our CCG sees this as step one in achieving our vision of a truly integrated 
care organisation for our population. 

We will continue to increase the number of end of life patients on the electronic 
palliative care co-ordination system and ensure each of those patients is offered a 
treatment escalation plan if appropriate.  

We will work with our locality commissioning groups to continue to build 
relationships with care homes, establishing partnerships with local practices and 
community teams.  Through our work with care homes we plan to reduce total 
emergency admissions by 0.5%.  We will have a single point of access for health 
and social care services which suits the need of each locality and review 
community nursing provision in order to achieve more fully integrated community 
nursing teams with GP practices. 

Our aims for community nursing tie in with the Department of Health “Care in Local 
Communities – district nurse vision and model” January 2013, including: 

• Focus on enabling the move from acute to community settings. 

• Enhance partnership between district nursing, health, social care, voluntary 
sector partners and patients to support care in people’s homes (including care 
homes) and in other community settings. 

• Promote and support self-care.  

• Tackle social isolation and mental as well as physical health needs especially 
in frail older people. 

 
In years two and three we will implement self-care training for all staff involved in 
the virtual wards.  With our Locality Commissioning Groups, we will work towards 
each care home having a linked GP practice and community nurse.  We will 
increase the provision of community services to allow for seven-days-a-week 
discharge from acute hospitals.  We will also define the role of community hospitals 
and develop a commissioner strategy for carers. 
 
 

 

Locality Focus 

Newton Abbot locality has identified community care as a particular priority.   It 

will be developing an integrated community team, which is crucial for managing 

complex multi-system medicine at home for an ageing population.  

It will be actively managing caseloads, supported by the services at Newton 

Abbot Hospital.  It will also continue the development of Virtual Ward best 
Page 33



Page 30 of 49 

 

5.2.3 Urgent Care 
 
Evidence Base 

Assuming a linear cost for urgent care (not adjusting for inflation or other factors), 
we might expect to see cost for the over 85s rise from around £14.5m to £18.5m in 
2021, through demographic change alone. 

Emergency admissions in South Devon and Torbay are assessed as generally 
lower than expected (Dr Foster), even though we have seen a sharp rise in line 
with national trends throughout 2012. Emergency admissions for injuries and 
poisonings (related to both prescribed medication and recreational drug use) are 
markedly higher than we would expect for our population and significantly higher in 
the over 75 age group. Fracture of the neck of femur (hip) and lower limbs are also 
significantly higher than we might expect. 

CCG Outcomes Indicators 

The following indicators in the 2013/14 CCG Outcomes Indicator Set will be tackled 
through this work stream: 

• C1.2 Under 75 mortality from cardiovascular disease. 

• C1.3 Cardiac rehabilitation completion.  

• C1.3 Cardiac rehabilitation completion.  

• C1.5 Mortality within 30 days of hospital admission for stroke. 

• C1.7 Under 75 mortality from liver disease. 

• C1.8 Emergency admissions for alcohol related liver disease. 

• C2.7 Unplanned hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in under 
19s. 

• C3.2 Emergency readmissions within 30 days of discharge from hospital. 

• C3.4 Emergency admissions for children with lower respiratory tract infections. 
People who have had a stroke who : 

• C3.5 Are admitted to an acute stroke unit within four hours of arrival to hospital.  

• C3.6 Receive thrombolysis following an acute stroke. 

• C3.7 Are discharged from hospital with a joint health and social care plan. 

• C3.8 Receive a follow-up assessment between 4-8 months after initial 
admission.  

• C4.6 Patient experience of A&E services. 
 
 
Key outcomes to be achieved 

• To improve access to GP services, in and out of hours, to avoid unnecessary 
visits into secondary care. 

• To increase self-care and pro-active case management e.g. diabetes, alcohol 
etc. 

• To review patient journeys through A&E in order to redesign services to avoid 
unnecessary admissions. 

• To increase the level of pro-active care in residential homes. 
 
Key pieces of work to be undertaken 

This year we will undertake a review of all minor injury units, encompassing 
opening hours, staffing levels and demand to ensure a consistent minimum set of 

Page 34



Page 31 of 49 

 

services on offer at all units.  This will reduce variation in patient experience and 
the use of services. 

We will improve the medical support for patients placed in the care of the 
intermediate care team, both in care homes and in their own home, to allow the 
service to be used more as a step-down service as well as step-up. 

We will review patient journeys through A&E so we can redesign services; ensuring 
patients get the right care in the right place. For all long-term condition specialties 
we will ensure that detailed reviews of emergency admissions and emergency re-
admissions by diagnosis are performed and ensure initiatives are in place to 
support admission avoidance where possible. 

We aim to reduce alcohol-related hospital admissions by working intensively with a 
small cohort of individuals with complex needs (often alongside their families, 
partners or others) who experience compromised psychological and/or physical 
health due to alcohol consumption, to keep them well and supported in the 
community.  We currently commission targeted alcohol workers to provide this 
service and will continue to monitor and evaluate the outcomes to inform future 
commissioning.  Our monthly Frequent User Review Panel also provides a multi-
disciplinary approach to supporting those patients who are high users of our 
emergency services, including use arising as a result of alcohol consumption.  
Through these work streams we plan to reduce total emergency admissions by 
0.5% by the end of the first year. 

We will be working with our care home providers to improve the quality of life of 
patients in care homes, reducing the number of hospital admissions.  Nurses from 
the medical admissions team (who are based in the hospital) will offer training and 
support to nurses in the nursing homes to enable them to deliver acute nursing 
treatments, such as intravenous treatments and blood transfusions.  In residential 
homes the team supports patients by delivering acute nursing treatments in these 
settings, enabling them to remain in the home rather than go to hospital.  We will 
continue to engage with our care homes, and work towards a solution where all 
patients receive active care and have comprehensive treatment plans, in particular 
strengthening relationships with primary care and identifying training needs for care 
home staff. 

We are committed to ensuring that self-care is fully integrated and embedded into 
all healthcare services so will build on the existing training programme for health 
and social care professionals.  We will commission a self-care service which 
provides a flexible approach to offering advice and support around self-care, 
assessing the individual’s needs. To complement this, the service will also ensure it 
provides the local workforce with support to offer advice and the skills to patients to 
help them self-care when this is appropriate. 

In years two and three we will increase the provision of community services to allow 
for seven-days-a-week discharge from acute hospitals.  We will develop ‘urgent 
care centres’ in the community, according to need, which will provide a wider range 
of urgent care services including x-ray facilities and diagnostics, as an alternative to 
attending A&E. 

 
 
 
 

Page 35



Page 32 of 49 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
5.2.4 Mental Health, Dementia & Autism 
 
Evidence Base 

The Government’s ‘No Health without Mental Health – A cross-governmental 
mental health outcomes strategy for people of all age’ – sets out the vision to 
improve outcomes for people who use mental health services and to promote 
positive mental health and wellbeing among the whole population. 

Mental health problems are common across all sectors of society.  It is estimated 
that in any one year approximately one British adult in four experiences at least one 
diagnosable mental health disorder. 

Dementia is a key area of concern for our CCG, particularly given that projections 
show the local population, already older than most other areas nationally, is likely to 
continue to age. The prevalence of people with dementia in South Devon and 
Torbay is currently approximately 5,000 and is projected to increase to 10,000 by 
2021. 

As a result of the Autism Act (2009) the Secretary of State has issued statutory 
guidance for local authorities and the NHS stating how we must meet the needs of 
people with autism; this forms the basis of our commissioning intentions for autism. 

CCG Outcomes Indicators 

The following indicators in the 2013/14 CCG Outcomes Indicator Set will be tackled 
through this work stream: 

• C1.12 People with severe mental illness who have received a list of physical 
checks.  

• C2.9 Access to community mental health services by people from BME groups.  

• C2.11 & C2.12 Recovery following talking therapies (all ages and older than 
65). 

• C2.13 Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia. 

• C2.14 People with dementia prescribed anti-psychotic medication. 

• C4.8 Patient experience of community mental health services. 
 

Key outcomes to be achieved 

• To assertively case manage patients in primary care, through integrating 
mental health into community teams. 

• To commission a Single Point of Access to joined-up mental health services. 

Locality Focus 

Torquay and Paignton & Brixham localities have identified urgent care as a 

particular priority for them.  They will be improving the management of 

patients in care homes by working with the medical admissions team to 

improve the training of care home staff and to develop one-to-one links 

between care homes and practices. 

 

Coastal and Moor to Sea localities have also prioritised the good 

management of nursing homes and will undertake work to improve the use 

of treatment escalation plans /special messages, education of staff and the 

development of the role of community nurses within care homes. 

Page 36



Page 33 of 49 

 

• To improve access to, and patient experience of, psychological therapy and 
crisis services, especially for children. 

• To implement the local Dementia Strategy. 
 

Key pieces of work to be undertaken 

As a result of patient feedback outlined in section 4.3.1, we will commission a 
‘single point of access’ for mental health services, including crisis, older people’s 
mental health services and drug and alcohol services.  We will work with providers 
to develop good quality care plans and agreed protocols for the transition of 
patients into primary care, to include fast-track access back into specialist services. 

We will be working with providers and localities to develop relationships between 
secondary care specialists and community teams and explore the advantages of 
having a named link worker for each locality and input into a virtual ward style of 
individual case-management. 

We will ensure better access and choice of evidence-based psychological therapy 
in a timely way.  We will review specialist psychological therapies and health 
psychology services with a view to reducing waiting times for treatment to 18 
weeks.  We also wish to further develop a home treatment approach to urgent 
psychiatric care for people experiencing acute emotional distress and anxiety. 

We will be implementing memory clinics for dementia across South Devon and 
Torbay.  We will ensure consistent access to drugs for those diagnosed with 
dementia and, where appropriate, to anti-psychotic drugs.  We will also work with 
the independent sector to ensure people with dementia live well in care homes. 

We will be working closely with local authority colleagues to produce a local 
strategy for autism.  We will also be reviewing services to ensure ease of access 
and use for adults and children with autism. 

In years two and three we will move towards a greater emphasis on early 
intervention services as we move from a treatment and management approach 
towards a preventative model.   We will be working on delivery of the eating 
disorder day service and increased access to therapy for people with personality 
disorders. 

 
5.2.5 Planned Care 
 
Evidence Base 

Benchmarking data suggests a need to review the top seven specialities which 
account for 50% of first outpatient spend.  The focus will be on orthopaedics, 
obstetrics, ophthalmology, ear, nose & throat (ENT), gynaecology, paediatrics and 
colorectal surgery, as well as on the specialties accounting for 50% of follow-up 
spend - orthopaedics, paediatrics, ENT, cardiology, clinical oncology and 
ophthalmology. 

Elective hospital admissions are significantly higher than expected in the younger 
age groups, while significantly lower than expected for the older age groups. There 
is a significantly higher than expected number of elective admissions for cancer 
treatments, which include on-going treatments and attendances at fracture clinics. 

CCG Outcomes Indicators 

Page 37



Page 34 of 49 

 

The following indicators in the 2013/14 CCG Outcomes Indicator Set will be tackled 
through this work stream: 

• C1.9 Under 75 mortality from cancer. 

• C1.10 a and b Cancer survival: all cancers 1 and 5yrs. 

• C1.11 a and b Cancer survival: breast, lung & colorectal 1 and 5yrs. 

• C1.13 Antenatal assessment < 13 weeks.  

• C1.14 Maternal smoking at delivery.  

• C1.15 Breastfeeding prevalence. 

• C3.3 Increased health gain as assessed by patients for elective procedures 

• Hip Replacement 

• Knee Replacement 

• Groin Hernia 

• Varicose Veins 

• C4.4 Patient experience of outpatient services. 

• C4.5 Responsiveness to in-patients’ personal needs. 

• C4.7 Women’s experience of maternity services. 

• Improving the safety of maternity services – TBC. 
 
Key outcomes to be achieved 

• To ensure patients are diagnosed and receive a care plan as soon as possible. 

• To ensure patients receive the appropriate level of intervention, in a local 
setting, avoiding unnecessary journeys to hospital. 

 

Key pieces of work to be undertaken 

This year we will review commissioning intentions with the Devon Access & 
Referrals Team (DART) to improve pathway compliance, beginning with 
musculoskeletal pathways, which we plan will lead to a 2% reduction in total 
referrals. 

We will implement and evaluate clinical referral triage, a system for clinical review 
of a referral letter to determine the most appropriate place for the patient to be 
seen, to avoid unnecessary hospitalisation. 

We will review follow-up behaviour of the top six acute specialities accounting for 
50% of spend and review acute consultant to consultant referral management, 
which we plan will lead to a 2% reduction in total follow-ups. 

We will develop commissioning strategies for key planned care specialities 
including: dermatology, ophthalmology, paediatrics/child health, musculoskeletal 
and pain. 

We will also scope how self-management can be utilised effectively for planned 
care. 

In years two and three we will continue to improve pathway compliance through the 
use of DART.  We will review the interface with intermediate care services and 
commission pathways that make sense to patients.  We will explore how 
technology/innovation can improve referral management and we will commission 
self-management/expert patient programmes to improve patients’ quality of life 

 

Page 38



Page 35 of 49 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
5.2.6 Children’s Services 
 
Evidence Base 

Benchmarking data suggests a need to review the top specialties accounting for 
50% of first and follow-up outpatient spend; this includes paediatrics. 

Analysis from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment of preventable health 
conditions in maternity and early years indicate concern about smoking in 
pregnancy, which is linked with increased risk of cot death and complex medical 
conditions, and about lower breastfeeding rates among the localities of Torquay, 
Paignton & Brixham and Newton Abbot. Childhood immunisations uptake is low in 
the Moor to Sea locality. 

Childhood obesity has been linked with poorer health outcomes for children, such 
as asthma, diabetes, psychological ill health and cardiovascular risk factors.  
Obesity and overweight among reception years has reduced over the last 3 years 
while levels in Year 6 children have remained relatively static with only minimal 
reduction. 

Hospital admissions in young people for unintentional and deliberate injuries have 
been linked to longer term health issues, including mental health.  Across South 
Devon, the rate of admissions is highest in the Torquay locality. 

The number of unplanned hospitalisations for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in the 
under 19s in 2011/12 was highest in Torquay, which accounted for around a 
quarter of all these admissions. 

Child poverty estimates in the CCG area are, at 20% of all children, higher than 
those seen regionally and nationally. Child poverty can have a significant impact on 
the health of children and families, including on their emotional and mental health, 
and can lead to admissions to hospital and increased safeguarding concerns.  
Across South Devon, the rate of hospital admissions is highest in the Torquay 
locality.  The rate per 10,000 of children in Torbay who were the subject of a child 
protection plan at 31 March 2012 was the highest in England. 

CCG Outcomes Indicators 

The following indicators in the 2013/14 CCG Outcomes Indicator Set will be tackled 
through this work stream: 

• Improving children and young people’s experience of healthcare – TBC. 

• Delivering safe care to children in acute settings – TBC. 
 

Key outcomes to be achieved 

• To ensure children and young people receive joined-up services in appropriate 
settings. 

Locality Focus 

Torquay and Paignton & Brixham localities have identified planned care as a 

particular priority for them.  They will be ensuring pathway compliance by 

working within the DART compliance process to improve the quality of 

referrals, ensuring that primary care/community based interventions have 

taken place, and to provide wider education about agreed clinical pathways.   

Page 39



Page 36 of 49 

 

• To encourage young people to be responsible for their own condition in order 
to prepare for transition to adulthood. 

 

Key pieces of work to be undertaken 

This year we will develop commissioning intentions for community paediatric and 
nursing services, as well as the role and scope of primary mental health work.  We 
will embed the IAPT programme to give access to psychological therapies.  

We will review the follow-up behaviour of acute paediatrics and acute consultant to 
consultant referral management. 

We will develop commissioning strategies for paediatrics/child health and scope 
how self-management can be used most effectively for young people.  We will also 
explore the development of a short stay paediatric unit. 

We will work jointly with the NHS Commissioning Board on an assessment of the 
impact of the increased number of health visitors on community prevention and 
early help services, with an initial focus on the pilot ‘Community prevention hub’ in 
Torquay. 

We will explore jointly-commissioned community services for 0-19 year olds with 
local authority colleagues and partners from primary care and education. 

In years two and three we will commission integrated children’s services provision.  
We will explore how technology/innovation can improve referral management and 
commission self-management/expert patient programmes. 

 
5.2.7 Learning Disabilities 
 
Evidence Base 

In the last 10 years there have been a number of reports identifying inequalities in 
health service delivery to people with learning disabilities.  These inequalities have 
resulted in people with learning disabilities having a reduced life expectancy and 
living with poorer health than the general population. 

As a result of the abuse of vulnerable people with learning disabilities at 
Winterbourne View private hospital, the ‘Transforming care: A national response to 
Winterbourne View Hospital Department of Health Review: Final Report’ now sets 
out actions to be undertaken and the structures for monitoring their delivery. 

CCG Outcomes Indicators 

The following indicators in the 2013/14 CCG Outcomes Indicator Set will be tackled 
through this work stream: 

• Reducing premature death in people with learning disabilities - TBC 
 

Key outcomes to be achieved 

• To implement actions set out in the Winterbourne View Report. 

• To ensure mainstream care for people with Learning Disabilities by 
commissioning inclusive services. 

 

Page 40



Page 37 of 49 

 

Key pieces of work to be undertaken 
 
This year we will implement the Winterbourne View actions, including 
arrangements for pooled budgets across health and social care. 
We will work to establish equality of access for people with learning disabilities to 
primary and secondary care, including wider primary care services and screening 
programmes. ( As part of our Equality Delivery System we will be working with our 
statutory partners and people with learning disability to assess how accessible 
services are to them and identify areas for improvement.)  
We will target specific pathways for delivery of equality of outcomes:  cancer 
screening, obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular disease and epilepsy. 
In years two and three we will continue to ensure that universal mental health 
services are accessible to people with Learning Disabilities and we will continue to 
improve equality of access to all services. 
 
5.2.8 Medicines Optimisation 
 
Evidence Base 

The most common therapeutic intervention made in the NHS is the use of 
medicines.  The current thinking from the government is to expand medicines 
management to medicines optimisation.  This means a greater focus on optimising 
medicines use to achieve the best outcomes for patients.  We are committed to 
transforming the ethos of medicines management in South Devon & Torbay to 
medicines optimisation. 

Key outcomes to be achieved 

• To review and reduce prescribing variation in all settings, in keeping with 
national best practice. 

• To fully explore and make use of gain-share opportunities with all providers. 

Key pieces of work to be undertaken 

This year we will work with our partners to develop processes for reducing 
prescribing variation through aligning Joint Formulary processes and developing 
mechanisms for accessing new pharmacological technologies.  A county-wide 
commissioning committee will be developed with appropriate representation in 
order to assess the effectiveness of new medicines.  We will continue to 
benchmark practices’ prescribing of common core drugs, in order to promote the 
use of specified preferred medicines.  In doing this we plan to make efficiency gains 
of 4% in the primary care prescribing spend. 

We will also work with our colleagues at the acute trust in order to fully utilise gain-
share opportunities.  Initially we will develop processes for routine monitoring of 
high cost drugs with the acute setting and explore the extent of patient access 
schemes. Additionally we will examine areas of mutual benefit with other providers.  
In doing this we plan to make efficiency gains of 4% in secondary care prescribing 
spend. 

In years two and three we will develop mechanisms to benefit both South Devon 
and Torbay CCG and South Devon Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust though 
mutually beneficial gain-share arrangements. 

 

Page 41



Page 38 of 49 

 

6 How We Deliver 

6.1 Information Technology 

It is important that Information Technology (IT) and other infrastructure is used as an 
enabler, supporting our strategic and operational aims and the objectives of the wider health 
and care community. This includes using existing and new technologies with information-
sharing protocols and agreements to underpin the need and ambition to provide access to 
care records and other important information - supporting safe care provision in different 
settings. 

Our IT Vision Statement is: 

Technology, systems and processes will be implemented and used to maximise the 
opportunity to support efficient working with the right useable information and tools available 
to the right people whenever and wherever needed. 

6.2 Innovation 

The Department of Health report ‘Innovation Health and Wealth, Accelerating Adoption and 
Diffusion in the NHS’ sets out a delivery agenda for spreading innovation at pace and scale 
throughout the NHS. The spread of innovative approaches will be vital in transforming 
patient services, improving quality and supporting delivery of the quality and efficiency 
programme, QIPP. 

'Innovation Health and Wealth' defines six 'High Impact Innovation' areas of innovation for 
the coming year and sets out that from April 2013 compliance with the high impact 
innovations would become a pre-qualification for CQUIN. In order to qualify for CQUIN 
payments our providers will need to satisfy at least 50% of the pre-qualification criteria that 
apply to them. 
 
We are actively working with our providers, creating a culture within which ‘joined-up’ 
innovative thinking is positively encouraged and supported. We will harness the creativity of 
our local community by establishing the mechanisms by which innovative ideas can be 
easily put forward, or commented upon by anyone, be they a patient or carer, employee (at 
any level within their organisation), third sector organisation or private sector organisation. 

 

6.3 Communications 

This commissioning plan details an ambitious set of intentions with regard to the aggregation 
of experience and local feedback into a set of meaningful commissioning objectives. To 
realise this, we will need excellent communication at all levels.  We have appointed a small 
but effective communications team and will retain internal control of key communications 
functions (including the development of excellent stakeholder engagement throughout our 
healthcare economy, internal, external and media communications and the use of 
technology to support engagement (such as ‘Patient Opinion’.)  We are working on a 
collaborative model with our sister CCG in NEW Devon to manage broader communications 
requirements (such as media analysis and archives and on-call arrangements).  We will also 
be working closely with our providers in order to communicate joint messages about key 
commissioning decisions and potential service changes. 

The appointment of a Clinical Lead for Engagement and Communications on the Governing 
Body is a statement of our commitment to meaningful joint work with our populations.   

GP Engagement 

Page 42



Page 39 of 49 

 

This is facilitated through the creation of localities (described in section 2.1) and a Council of 
Members.  A regular meeting of these bodies ensures that we retain the goodwill, ideas and 
input of our constituent members, and was the mechanism through which we created and 
adopted our Constitution.   We consulted our GPs early on in the authorisation process 
regarding communications, and thus we have created a light-touch approach through weekly 
updates as well as practice visits where requested. 

Population Engagement 

The design of our organisation (described in section 2.1) shows the inclusion of a Strategic 
Patient Involvement Group (SPIG) as one of our key consultative bodies.  Bringing together 
the many sectors upon whose hard work and goodwill we depend for our feedback and 
intelligence, this is a strategic group which is already using the considerable knowledge and 
experience of its members to inform the commissioning of our CCG.  Our Non-Executive 
Director for Patient and Public Involvement regularly attends SPIG and reports delivery to 
the Governing Body on key points.    

Our CCG has actively supported the development of Healthwatch in Torbay and has begun 
to build a framework through which work with both Torbay and Devon Healthwatch will lead 
to the creation of a focal point for engagement right across the healthcare community.    

 

6.4 Workforce 

The workforce of the CCG has been constructed using a two-faceted approach which we 
believe will serve the organisation well into the long term.  Firstly, the fair and full 
redeployment of staff under the transitional guidance for human resource (HR) management, 
during which we have maintained a legacy approach to ensuring that talent and 
organisational memory is preserved through transition from PCT to CCG.  And secondly, a 
robust approach to selection throughout the organisation.  Using open and transparent 
systems of recruitment (including assessment centres), we have required senior 
management and clinical leads to compete for key roles, thus ensuring the best possible 
competence and capability within the organisation.    

Due to its geographical constraints, size, and the nature of its vision, the CCG has chosen to 
construct a management structure which will enable it to directly control and deliver optimal 
commissioning.  While the structures are lean (with a focus on clinical delivery rather than 
business support), they have been scrupulously tested against the required financial targets 
and allocations.   The focus of the workforce is on commissioning, supported by key 
functional services such as corporate governance, finance, performance reporting, 
organisation development, communications and quality and safety.   Where economies of 
scale can be achieved through outsourcing, this has been negotiated and is described in 
section 6.4. 

 

Distributed Leadership and Clinical Partnerships 

In accordance with our vision, we have designed and set up a distributed model of 
leadership throughout the CCG.  Wherever possible we have appointed (through selection) 
healthcare professionals and GPs to lead redesign, innovation, communications, 
engagement, workforce planning, education, quality improvement, patient safety and other 
key work streams in support of excellent commissioning.    Some 50 GPs are now involved 
in this distributed model of leadership which is already yielding early success through the 
creation of a ‘management partnership’ model of support.    Throughout the organisation, 

Page 43



Page 40 of 49 

 

clinical leaders work alongside a manager who supports their work, ensures delivery and 
thus enables the release of clinical leadership in its purest form.   

 

Talent Management and Training 

We are fortunate to have the engagement of a wide range of clinical leaders in the CCG, as 
well as a competent and enthusiastic management team, but we know we must work to plan 
for the future.  A range of factors influence this view, including the age and gender profiles of 
our existing clinical leadership  as well as the relative immaturity of our management model 
in a new and uncertain world.   The addition of ‘professional leadership’ to the NHS Planning 
Framework for 2013/2014, as outlined in ‘Everyone Counts’, provides us with a helpful 
impetus against which to consider the leadership development of our clinical partnerships 
(as described above).    We have already written and adopted a simple yet effective 
framework for appraisal and performance management which asks managers and leaders to 
consider behaviour, track record, ambition and stretch when managing staff. 

We are considering a range of initiatives to ‘grow’ a new generation of clinical leaders.  For 
example – we are in discussions with the South West Deanery about the creation of an ST4 
programme which would operate on a ‘leadership/commissioning/backfill’ educational basis.   

 

6.5 Commissioning Support Arrangements 

Our CCG has entered into an agreement with the Best West Commissioning Support Unit for 
them to provide clinical procurement services and sustainability expert advice and support. 

It has also been agreed that NEW Devon CCG will host a Collaborative Business Service 
(CBS), which will provide support to the localities within the NEW Devon CCG and also to 
our CCG. These services generally fall into one of the following categories: 

• Referral management via the DART. 

• Contract management for the Out of Hours service. 

• PALS and Complaints. 

• Medicines Optimisation support. 

• Specialist Business Intelligence functions. 

• Communications support. 

• Freedom of Information requests. 

• Information Security. 

There are other areas of commissioning support that will be provided via shared service 
arrangements with South Devon Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust and Torbay & Southern 
Devon Health & Care NHS Trust via Service Level Agreements.  These are: 

• IT (including GPIT services) 

• Data warehousing 

• HR services 

• Occupational Health 

• Non clinical procurement 

All commissioning support arrangements and requirements will be kept under review and will 
be further tested. 

 

  

Page 44



Page 41 of 49 

 

7 Finance, Contracting and Performance 

 

7.1 Financial Planning 

The NHS Commissioning Board will take on its full powers from 1 April 2013, overseeing 

expenditure against England's £95.6 billion NHS budget to deliver the Government’s 

mandate.  Within this overall funding, £63.4 billion was part of the announcement of financial 

allocations to CCGs and represents 2.3% growth when compared to the equivalent 2012/13 

baselines. 

As part of our input into the national work to establish recurrent baselines for the CCG we 

have acknowledged locally that there are risks inherent in analysing baselines across a 

range of geographies as well as new commissioning responsibilities.  CCGs will need to 

work together locally in order to ensure as stable as possible an introduction of the new 

system of commissioning in 2013/14. 

The resources announced for local commissioners comprise three key elements:  

• An allocation to CCGs to cover the local services they will commission on behalf of their 

populations (£63.4 billion, representing 2.3% nominal growth or 0.3% real terms 

growth). Current assumptions suggest that an average CCG successfully delivering its 

QIPP schemes should in fact require less than 1% to cover expected cost pressures;  

• The running costs allocated to CCGs, as published on 8 November 2012 (£1.3 billion); 

and  

• An allocation to local authorities to fund services that benefit both health and social care, 

which will increase by 38% to £0.9 billion in 2013/14, as previously announced. 

A summary of the above for the CCG is as follows: 

 £’000 

Adjusted CCG Baseline (excluding Running Costs) 360,503 

2013/14 Growth at 2.3% 8,292 

Total Revenue Allocation 368,794 

  

CCG Running Costs Allocation 6,717 

  

Total CCG Allocation (including Running Costs) 375,511 
 

 Allocation in relation to social care (including 
growth) 

5,366 

 

The indicative CCG budget and draft plan for 2013-14 is presented at Appendix 5.  It has 

been developed to reflect our assessment of the local impact of national and local planning 

assumptions.  This includes required surplus (nationally 1%) and headroom (2%), and as 

well as our investment priorities and efficiency requirement. 

The £15-20bn national QIPP challenge is focussed on the current Comprehensive Spending 

Review period which ends in March 2015. NHS growth funding in real terms over the last 

Page 45



Page 42 of 49 

 

sixty years has averaged 4%1. Current growth in real terms during the current CSR is ‘flat 

cash’ or 0%. The most optimistic forecasts for UK GDP growth beyond 2015 are currently 

around 2%. Given these parameters, it is most likely at this point that the requirement for the 

NHS to continue achieving unprecedented improvements in productivity will continue long 

beyond 2015 and the current QIPP challenge. 

QIPP will continue to be a priority for us but it is also increasingly important to describe an 

intention which the local health and social care organisations, commissioners and providers, 

can agree in terms of the wider workforce and infrastructure (estate, information technology, 

etc.) which will be supportive of our system priorities beyond this CSR, including the financial 

landscape which that requires. It will be important to demonstrate greater emphasis on 

maintaining health and preventing illness, with patients being treated in the least acute 

setting possible, and with care delivered nearer to GP practices. 

A clear statement of the financial landscape as it currently exists can be seen as follows: 

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Draft Medium-term Financial plan for 2013/16 - Summary 
  

Expenditure 

Plan 

Expenditure 

Plan 

Expenditure 

Plan 

    £000 £000 £000 

Area of Expenditure         

Purchase of Healthcare         

Secondary Heathcare & Ambulance Services 185,584 185,783 185,783 

Mental Health Services 28,444 28,458 28,458 

Community Health Services 47,700 47,715 47,715 

Other NHS Commissioned Services 7,379 7,917 8,329 

Non-NHS Healthcare Services 19,532 19,860 20,168 

Total Purchase of HealthCare   288,638 289,732 290,452 

Primary Care Commissioning         

Primary Care - Out of Hours, Enhanced Services 4,893 4,893 4,893 

Primary Care Prescribing 47,340 48,287 49,253 

Total Primary Care   52,233 53,180 54,146 

Complex Care Commissioning (CHC, IPP, etc)   25,522 26,798 28,138 

Other Programme Services         

 Other Purchase of Healthcare       

                                                           
1
 NHS and Social Care Funding: The Outlook to 2021/22. Nuffield Trust & IFS, July 2012 

Page 46



Page 43 of 49 

 

Total Other Purchase of Healthcare   0 0 0 

Total Purchase of Healthcare   366,394 369,711 372,737 

Non Healthcare Purchase         

Running Costs 6,717 6,717 6,717 

Total Non Healthcare Purchase   6,717 6,717 6,717 

Plan Requirements & Reserves         

Headroom & Contgingency 5,532 5,726 5,890 

National & Local Investment Requirements 479 1,034 2,023 

Other Programme Services Risk Reserve (Non-Recurrent) 932 2,609 5,218 

Total Plan Requirements & Reserves 6,943 9,369 13,131 

Total Planned Spend   380,054 385,797 392,584 

          

Revenue Resource Limit   385,697 389,636 396,511 

          

Under Spend Against Revenue Resource Limit   5,643 3,839 3,926 

Planned QIPP Requirement in Expenditure Plans   (4,356) (6,049) (5,875) 

 

Planning Requirements: National and Local 

A key expectation for our CCG is to continue to achieve a surplus at a minimum of 1% 

which, based on the CCG allocation, would equate to £3.688m.  Locally, we will plan to 

achieve surplus at £5.643m although over time would expect this to return to the national 

position of 1%. 

It is anticipated, and part of our medium term planning assumptions, that surpluses achieved 

in 2012/13 will be made available to future commissioning organisations (including CCGs). 

For future years we will continue to plan on this basis and for the achievement of surplus in 

line with current National Operating Framework planning assumptions. We will keep this 

under review as further national guidance emerges. 

Our financial plans are also compliant with the requirement to plan for 2% of the revenue 

allocation to be available recurrently to fund the cost of change in 13/14. This equates to 

£7.376m and can only be committed to cover non-recurrent costs, and is likely to require the 

approval of the NHS Commissioning Board area team before funding can be released. 

  

Page 47



Page 44 of 49 

 

Inflationary and Volume Growth Assumptions 

The table below outlines the key inflationary assumptions used in the development of the 

2013/14 plans: 

Expenditure Area Planning Assumption Rationale 

NHS Secondary Care Contracts 

-1.3% 

(2.7% inflation less 4% Efficiency) 

As indicated within National 

Planning Guidance 

Primary Care Prescribing 
2% (6% less 4% Efficiency – 

Covering price and volume change) 

As per recent trends, reflected in 

local planning assumptions 

Continuing Healthcare 5% (covering price and volume) 
As per recent trends, reflected in 

local planning assumptions 

Volume increases in Secondary 

Care Contracts 
1% by value 

As per underlying demographic 

changes 

CQUIN 
Remains as for 2012/13 at 2.5% of 

contract value 

As indicated within National 

Planning Guidance 

 

Running Cost Requirements 

In preparation for the new commissioning infrastructure from 1st April 2013, we will be 

expected to manage our running costs within an overall limit of £25 per head of population. 

The current plans are consistent with this requirement, and the draft CCG structure is 

reconciled regularly to the £6.717m running cost allowance.  It is reported to and reviewed 

by the CCG Senior Management Committee, the Finance Committee and the Governing 

Body.  Our plans assume we will continue to operate within the £25 per head, or £6.717m 

running cost allocation during 13/14 and into 14/15. 

Financial Management 

We have been actively leading the in-year risk assessment and financial management 

across the range of our activities in 12/13 including managing the overall budget for NHS 

Torbay in the final year of its operation; this will include production of the final annual 

accounts for the organisation. We have developed our medium term financial plan, as 

indicated, in line with national and local planning expectations and will be leading the 

contract negotiations with provider organisations through to agreeing contracts in March 

2013. This understanding of, and commitment to, a transparent approach to financial 

management in 12/13 will allow us to continue to build on our track record of managing 

within delegated budgets, regular reporting, achieving financial targets, and providing a 

credible approach to achieving the challenge ahead in 13/14. 

The Clinical Commissioning Group currently acts as the lead, or co-ordinating, commissioner 

for South Devon Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (2 associate CCG commissioners), 

South West Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust (4 associate CCG commissioners), 

and Torbay & Southern Devon Health & Care NHS Trust (1 associate CCG commissioner). 

Page 48



Page 45 of 49 

 

In addition, we are currently an associate commissioner to other significant NHS contracts 

with Royal Devon & Exeter NHS FoundationTrust and Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust.  We 

are also working collaboratively with the NEW Devon CCG regarding the Devon Partnership 

NHS Trust contract. 

In agreeing the 2012/13 contracts we led the negotiation process with the Trusts and 

successfully agreed all contracts within expected timescales and budgets. 

In agreeing contracts for 13/14 we will be mindful of the need to plan for medium term 

sustainability within available resources. As such, it is likely that for the NHS providers 

contracts will be agreed which seek to limit in year financial variation between organisations 

in order to ensure stability. 

Finance, Performance and Contract Governance 

We have used the opportunity provided by the DH contract transition assurance process to 

assess the adequacy of our contract governance across the range of commissioned 

healthcare services. This has led to the establishment of a contract risk register which is 

used to identify where improvement is necessary and to manage this process.  

The performance, quality, and financial aspects of contracts are managed through 

performance & contract meetings held regularly with provider organisations. 

We will ensure that appropriate collaborative commissioning relationships continue the 

effective arrangements we have built to date. With due regard for developing guidance we 

will agree with local partner CCGs how the new arrangements will best reconcile with a 

desire for a greater emphasis on local commissioning whilst acknowledging the advantages 

of the collaborative approach. The enhanced governance proposed in the new collaborative 

commissioning guidance, including appropriate delegation from Governing Body and more 

formal dispute resolution processes, will provide greater assurance that the outputs of 

collective commissioning are rigorous and reliable.  

The CCG would envisage a more direct contracting relationship with our six principle NHS 

contracts (South Devon NHS Foundation Trust, Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation 

Trust, South West Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust, Torbay & Southern Devon 

Health & Care NHS Trust, Devon Partnership NHS Trust, and Plymouth Hospitals NHS 

Trust). This is in line with the significance of the financial sums involved and the need for a 

local voice at the relevant contract review meetings. However, the approach is expected to 

develop such that greater or lesser emphasis is placed on involvement at each stage as 

collaborative arrangements and relationships develop. 

The Finance Committee of the CCG will have input to, will oversee, and will recommend the 

approval of finance and commissioning plans to the CCG’s Governing Body. These plans 

will achieve the financial performance required of the CCG. The Committee will also formally 

review financial performance throughout the year and assist the CFO in holding the 

organisation to account for the delivery of financial performance targets. In-year financial 

reporting will be a standing item for the CCG’s Governing Body. 

  

Page 49



Page 46 of 49 

 

Finance Sub-committee of the Clinical Cabinet 

The Clinical Cabinet plays a key role locally in bringing together and co-ordinating a joined-

up approach to strategic service planning. Clinically led, it oversees the integration 

programme as well as other key service developments. The Finance Sub-committee of the 

Clinical Cabinet was established to assess the adequacy of the current financial 

arrangements in place across primary, secondary, and community care commissioning in 

terms of enabling the most efficient, effective, and economic use of resources in the 

community. This has included a review of all areas of commissioning to identify areas of 

opportunity for local service development. 

The group is chaired by the GP Governing Body member with a lead for finance and 

governance and is attended by clinical staff, as well as the Directors of Finance for the acute 

hospital and the community provider locally as well as the CCG’s Chief Finance Officer. In 

12/13 the group successfully agreed an approach to contracting with the local acute hospital 

which allows flexibility for clinical redesign but which better allows the alignment of cost and 

income reduction within the hospital. 

The group will continue to work to ensure that contracts and finances are aligned to allow for 

community wide achievement of statutory duties alongside the QIPP programme. 

 

7.2 Key Contracting Intentions including QIPP Requirements 

Further progress will be needed in the recurrent delivery of the quality and efficiency 

programme, QIPP. Managing planned and urgent care activity to contracted levels, 

particularly in acute hospitals in 13/14 is a key determinant of achieving sustainable contract 

agreements in 14/15. 

QIPP plans in 13/14 cover four broad areas. The first three, increasing primary care 

capacity, reducing the number of unplanned admissions from care homes, and reducing the 

number of alcohol related admissions are also our three commissioning priorities as a CCG. 

The fourth, reducing prescribing spending will cover prescribing in primary (GP Practice) and 

secondary care (hospital based). 

Capacity for GPs to manage increasingly complex patients in order to prevent unplanned 

admissions to hospital is a key aim for us. GP practices as members of the CCG are working 

with the University of Exeter to understand the key determinants and impacts on primary 

care capacity in order to ensure we are making best use of current capacity. At the same 

time, we will be working with our Area Team to develop plans to further improve capacity in 

primary care as part of the National Commissioning Board’s role as the commissioner for 

primary care. These plans are described in more detail in section 5.2.8 but are expected to 

realise a 2% reduction in unplanned admissions in 13/14. 

Our plans to reduce unplanned admissions from care homes and as a result of alcohol 

misuse are described in detail in section 5.2.3 but are expected to reduce unplanned 

admissions by 1% (when taken together). 

Optimising the use of medicines aims to achieve improved health as well as ensure efficient 

prescribing. Inflation in primary care prescribing is stable but needs to be maintained at 

Page 50



Page 47 of 49 

 

levels at or below the total 2.3% uplift for the CCG. Inflation in secondary care (hospital 

based) prescribing is significantly higher (partly as a result of new drugs and technologies) 

but we still need to ensure prescribing is achieving the best outcomes for our population. 

Section 5.2.8 describes this approach in more detail.  

These four broad areas are a necessary step in ensuring the CCG lives within available 

resources in 13/14 and beyond. However, further efficiencies will be required and are more 

likely to be ‘structural’ in nature, i.e. require a fundamental change in the way our providers 

deliver healthcare. 

The potential vertical integration of our community care provider gives an important 

opportunity for the shaping of local plans to produce an economically sustainable future. 

Commissioners will be clear that any integration must be predicated upon enhancing primary 

care and community capacity and designing services increasingly around practices in order 

to provide services which mean patients can avoid unnecessary admissions to hospitals. It 

must also deliver a community hospital infrastructure which is responsive to local community 

needs. Seen in the context of QIPP, and planned growth levels, the integration will be 

required to deliver CIP in excess of 4% per annum to 14/15. These are key agreements 

which will require a joined-up approach to financial planning and cost improvement plan 

implementation. This work has already begun in the Finance Sub-committee of the Clinical 

Cabinet. 

Contracts will be agreed in a way which seeks to mitigate risk while maximising the 

opportunity for system wide cost restructuring and efficiency. 

In thinking through options for contracting in 13/14 and beyond, and given the financial 

context in the NHS and Local Authority sectors as well as the proposed acquisition of the 

local community provider by the acute provider, alternative approaches to the current 

contract are being discussed in order to understand whether a better balance of risk could 

be achieved in support of this wider agenda. 

It is felt that a longer term (3 year) agreement would offer incentives to providers (particularly 

as part of ensuring stability through an acquisition process) to achieve cost savings.  

Commissioners have been clear that such an approach would necessarily be contingent on 

a clear (and auditable) understanding of the hospitals cost base, the maintenance of all 

quality and other performance measures, as well as cost improvement plans and the 

achievement of agreed efficiencies. This latter part would depend on the production of 

detailed infrastructure (estate, IT,etc.) and workforce plans which describe a redesigned 

health and social care system capable of responding to higher demand, but at the same or 

reduced cost (in real terms).  

Workforce plans, activity plans, and finance plans need to be better integrated. We expect to 

achieve this by agreeing and monitoring acute and community hospital Cost Improvement 

Plans as part of contract sign off and on-going contract monitoring. This will form an 

important part of a financial framework across the community which better enables the 

delivery of QIPP in the medium term. 

CQUIN should be system wide and be across organisational boundaries. Although CQUIN 

schemes exist in common across providers in 12-13 most are achievable independently, i.e. 

Page 51



Page 48 of 49 

 

one provider can deliver their CQUIN scheme independently of another provider’s delivery. 

Moving to increasingly co-dependent schemes which more clearly require joint working to 

ensure delivery would be a resource backed move towards a system-wide integration. 

7.3 Procurement 

Our role as an authorised CCG is to secure services that meet the health needs of our 

population, delivering best quality to patients and value to taxpayers.  We are responsible for 

making appropriate and effective decisions relating to the procurement of clinical services 

based on the principles of transparency, proportionality, non-discrimination and equality of 

treatment.  Our statutory functions include the Public Contracts Regulations 2006, NHS 

(Procurement, Patient Choice and Competition) Regulations 2013, Treaty on the Functioning 

of the EU, Health & Social Care Act and Choice & Competition regulations. 

Procurement is a key enabler in stimulating the local healthcare market, helping to create 
more choice and supporting systems reform and as such is an integral part of our 
commissioning cycle.  
  
We are receiving specialised procurement expertise from the Peninsula Purchasing & 
Supply Alliance (PPSA) in association with Best West Commissioning Support Unit. This 
arrangement provides us with proven knowledge and experience, and a procurement 
network that could not be achieved as a CCG alone.  
  
Our procurement work programme for 2013/13 commences with the continuation of the 
procurement for provision of a NHS 111 service across the county. Other areas for 
consideration include the review of services undertaken via Any Qualified Provider, 
Community Services, in particular the provision of equipment services, and the delivery of 
certain self-care programmes.  Where appropriate, these services and others will be 
considered in conjunction with other NHS and partnership organisations. 
 
7.4 Performance Management 
 
7.4.1 Performance Management of Providers 
 
We hold regular monthly/bi-monthly performance management meetings with all of our main 
providers, which cover quality, performance, finance and service development.  We also 
have frequent informal meetings with providers covering particular topics when required.  We 
encourage a mature and transparent relationship where issues are openly discussed and we 
work with our providers to develop the best outcome for the community and our patients. 
 
7.4.2 Internal Business Planning and Performance 
 
To support planning within the CCG we have established a Business Planning and 
Performance (BPP) group.  The group is responsible for timetabling and delivering the 
annual business cycle.  BPP also has responsibility for the internal performance 
management of delivery against our commissioning priorities and delivering the NHS 
contracts to plan (and therefore the financial plans of the CCG).  As a result the group are 
responsible for reviewing business cases for both investment and disinvestment purposes, in 
line with the criteria which has been agreed by the Senior Management Committee. 
 
BPP provides a forum for discussing and moving forward the business of the CCG, on a 
medium-term basis.  It includes clinical representation and the representation of senior 
managers covering all aspects of commissioning, finance, contracting, performance, 
communications and engagement, quality and public health.  This broad membership 

Page 52



Page 49 of 49 

 

ensures that the appropriate due diligence is given to all service changes.  It also ensures 
the necessary links are made within the CCG to ensure service changes are well understood 
from all perspectives and can be implemented  as soon as is appropriate, without 
unnecessary delays. 
 
BPP is a recognised process with our main providers and links into the established provider 
and commissioner meeting structures including Clinical Pathway Groups (CPGs) and 
Contract Review meetings. 
 
7.4.3 Measuring Success 
 
We will measure progress against our commissioning priorities and the CCG Outcomes 
Framework at the monthly BPP meetings.  This will be supported by our Business Manager, 
who is responsible for ensuring BPP is cited on all current activities and progress against 
delivery.  Following on from the ‘QIPP Report’ which has been well regarded in this current 
year we will be developing a new ‘CCG Progress Monitoring Dashboard’.  The dashboard 
will inform BPP, the Clinical Commissioning Committee and the rest of the organisation on 
progress with regard to finance, activity, outcomes, and local trajectories. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 53



 

 
TORBAY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Title: 
 

Update Report – Clinical Commissioning Group 

Wards Affected: All wards 
To:  Torbay Health and Wellbeing 

Board 
On: 21 March 2013 

Contact: Dr Sam Barrell 
Telephone:  
Email: Sam.barrell@nhs.net 

 

1. Achievements since last meeting 

1.1 We were fully authorised in January, and our one remaining condition was 
removed in February, making us ready for 1 April. 

1.2 We have finalised our integrated plan and summarised it as a Plan on a Page, 
for sharing with all our partners and stakeholders to enable them to see our 
priorities and intentions as commissioners.  

1.3 We are developing our expertise in integration, having been offered the 
opportunity to take part in a King’s Fund programme exploring how to further 
integration across healthcare systems.  

1.4 Board to Board meetings with providers are helping ensure strategic plans are 
aligned.  

2. Challenges for the next three months 

2.1 Finance planning: evaluation of retrospective continuing healthcare claims 
and an ongoing movement in budget responsibility between the CCG and the 
National Commissioning Board are creating some level of risk in current 
financial plans 

2.2 We need to establish more clarity about extra responsibilities in primary care 
that have apparently been delegated to us. 

2.3 Operational pressures are likely to increase in the short term as the NHS 
Cluster system ends on 31 March 2013.  

2.4 We will over many months be assessing the South Devon Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust acquisition of Torbay and Southern Devon Health and Care 
NHS Trust  

3. Action required by partners 

3.1 All partners are invited to review our integrated plan.  The Plan on a Page is at 
Appendix 1.  

3.2 Torbay Council is asked to work with us on the Integrated Business Plan 
assessment. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 54



 

 

Appendix 1 - Plan on a Page  

 

Page 55



 

 
TORBAY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Title: 
 

Update Report – Adult Services 

Wards Affected: 
 

All Wards 

To: 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board On: 21 March 2013 

Contact: Caroline Taylor 
Telephone: (01803) 207116 
Email: Caroline.taylor@torbay.gov.uk 

 

 
Summary and context for Adult Social Care: 
 

• The commissioning of Adult Social Care by Torbay Council from the TSDHCT 
(former care trust) has been agreed for 2013/14 by approval at full council in 
February the Annual Strategic Agreement which set out outcomes and 
performance to be achieved within the allocated budget and the roles and 
responsibilities for the financial year of commissioners and providers. 
 

• This is set within the context of TSDHCT being in the process of acquisition 
by another Foundation Trust. The council has a working party which relates to 
an overarching project board which will steer the project of acquisition. This 
includes a further presentation on the overall transformation and business 
case to all elected members on 10 April 12. Although there is some delay in 
parts of the process it is hoped that the overall timetable can still be adhered 
to. 
 

• The Council is still committed to integrated health and care and there are a 
number of processes and which are being reshaped to drive the needed 
innovation locally to develop the system for future needs. 
 

• The council has set the fees for care homes locally by an all council decision 
on February 13. We continue to work with care homes on the implementation 
of that decision. 
 

• There is an opportunity to work with the voluntary sector on combating 
isolation as experienced by older people that is currently being explored. 
 

• The health and care ‘system’ hosted a select committee visit in the bay which 
explored issues of the health and care bill, and leaders are also exploring how 
Torbay may become a pilot for innovation as part of the development of 10 
national pilots as determined by the minister Norman Lamb MP. 

 

Set out in appendix 1 is a list of specific commissioning decisions from the recent 
meeting of the sub-group

Agenda Item 7

Page 56



Appendix 1 

 

Meeting date 14
th

 February 2013 
Summary of Partnership Commissioning Board decisions  
 

Relationship to Community Plan 

• Improving adult safeguarding 

• Closing the gap 

• Delivering principles of early intervention and prevention in supporting communities 

• Jointly engage and involve communities to resolve local issues 

• Continue to provide value for money for our communities 
 
 

Date of 
decision 

Decision Impact on communities & relationship to community 
plan  

Financial impact 

14.02.13 To extend the Domestic Abuse Support Service 
and the Refuge Contract to September 2013  

Improving adult safeguarding. Delivering principles of early 
intervention and prevention in supporting communities. 
Continue to provide value for money for our communities. 

£112,500 

14.02.13 To extend the Structured Treatment 
Accommodation Service and the Abstinence 
Based Accommodation Service Contracts to 
March 2014 subject to a 5% reduction and the 
caveat that we may break with this if needed  

Improving adult safeguarding. Continue to provide value 
for money for our communities. 

£239,700 

14.02.13 To extend the Criminal Justice Accommodation 
Service to March 2014 but a further decision 
may need to be made in June 2013 

Improving adult safeguarding. Delivering principles of early 
intervention and prevention in supporting communities. 
Continue to provide value for money for our communities.  

£48,000 

14.02.13 

 

To extend the Leonard Stocks Contract to 
March 2014 subject to savings being achieved. 

Improving adult safeguarding. Closing the gap. Delivering 
principles of early intervention and prevention in 
supporting communities. Continue to provide value for 
money for our communities. 

£308,500 

14.02.13 To extend the Support Care and Community 
Services Framework Agreement for a further 
two years.  

Improving adult safeguarding. Delivering principles of early 
intervention and prevention in supporting communities. 
Continue to provide value for money for our communities. 

None 

P
age 57



Appendix 1 

 

Date of 
decision 

Decision Impact on communities & relationship to community 
plan  

Financial impact 

14.02.13 Approved the funding of £38,000 per annum for 
the continuation of the Supported Employment 
Element of Project Search 

Closing the gap. Jointly engage and involve communities 
to resolve local issues. Continue to provide value for 
money for our communities. 

£38,000 

 

 

P
age 58



 

 
TORBAY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Title: 
 

Update Report – Healthwatch  

Wards Affected: 
 

All 

To:  
 

Health and Wellbeing Board  On: 21st March 2013 

Contact:  Tracey Cabache  
Telephone: 01803 208831 
Email: tracey.cabache@torbay.gov.uk 

 

1. Achievements since last meeting 

1.1 Transition Group approved local mission for Healthwatch:  

“Healthwatch Torbay will be the local consumer watchdog influencing, responding, 
improving and monitoring health and social care services in Torbay. It  provides local 
people, community and voluntary groups with a voice to influence the planning, purchasing 
and provision of these services. This independent, local consumer watchdog will support the 
public to promote better results in health for all and social care for adults”. 
 
Healthwatch Torbay aims to: 

• Strengthen the patient and public voice at both national and local level 
• Campaign, promote and present the collective views and experiences of patients, 

carers and the local population of Torbay.  
• Influence policy, planning, and delivery of  health and social care services  in Torbay 
• Signpost and support the general public in accessing suitable services. 
• Represent the diverse communities across Torbay reaching out to ensure they are 

engaged with the wider community  in “having their say” on health and social care 
services  

• Work closely with Healthwatch England and the Care Quality Commission in holding 
commissioners and providers to account of services.  

• Continue positive working relationships with a wide range of organisations and 
groups across Torbay. 

• Continue to develop credibility and public trust by responding appropriately to 
concerns when care or services.  

• Continue raising awareness of local Healthwatch via effective communication 
strategy. 

• Develop a well established brand in Torbay      
 

1.2 Torbay Council confirmed Healthwatch contract will be grant aided for 2 years 
to the organisation set up by the Local Involvement Network (LINk) Torbay, given 
their unique capacity to provide the service (Mayoral Decision). 

1.3 LINks operating as Interim Healthwatch from September 2012. Governance 
and volunteer structure reviewed and strengthened to prepare for future role. 

1.4 Healthwatch Torbay registered as a Company Limited by Guarantee and has 
applied for charitable status. A Community Interest Company also established under 

Agenda Item 8

Page 59



 

the title Torbay Healthwatch with an asset lock for any ‘profit’ to be given to 
Healthwatch Torbay.  

1.5  Budget of £139,000 from Torbay Council confirmed for Healthwatch Torbay in 
2013-14, year two to be confirmed.   

1.6  Contribution of £30,000 in year one confirmed from Clinical Commissioning 
Group to help support the establishment of Healthwatch. Funds earmarked for a 
Communication and Information Manager and a part-time Youth Worker. 

1.7 New premises located for Healthwatch Torbay in Paignton Library and 
Information Centre (space shared with Carers Services). Healthwatch Transition 
funding utilised for the office conversion and set up. Staff moved in and office 
opened 7th March 2013.  

1.8 Transfer date of LINk staff from Torbay Council to Healthwatch Torbay agreed 
for 1st August 2013.  

1.9  Provider for Healthwatch Devon announced as Community Council of Devon 
– meetings initiated to discuss joint working. 

1.10 NHS Complaints Advocacy Service contracted with existing provider SEAP 
(Support, Empower, Advocate and Promote) for a 12 month period (joint contract 
with Devon County Council). This contract period will be used to more clearly identify 
the required need for the service and opportunities for combination with other local 
advocacy services. Signposting role of Healthwatch agreed and joint working with 
SEAP established.  

2. Challenges for the next three months 

2.1 The funds available to Healthwatch locally are still below the level 
recommended by the Department of Health. Healthwatch Torbay will look to 
supplement income with specific paid project work.  

2.2  To effectively launch Healthwatch in Torbay post 1st April 2013 and ensure it 
swiftly becomes known by the general public as the local health and social care 
consumer champion.   

3. Action required by partners 

3.1 Partners to help publicise and support the development of Healthwatch 
Torbay in these crucial first months.  

3.2 Health and Wellbeing Board to explore and agree the role of Healthwatch 
Torbay vis a vis the Board’s role and the delivery of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.  

 

Page 60



 

 
TORBAY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Title: 
 

Public Sector Equality Duty 

Wards Affected: 
 

All 

To: 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board On: 21 March 2013 

Contact: Kate Spencer Zoe Williamson 
Telephone: 01803 207014 01803 207019 
Email: kate.spencer@torbay.gov.uk zoe.williamson@torbay.gov.uk 
 

1. Purpose 

1.1 To provide a briefing to the Health and Wellbeing Board on the Public Sector 
Equality Duty and the implications for the Board’s work over the coming year. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That, in accordance with the Equality Impact Assessment for the Joint Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy, a refresh of both the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy to take account of the 

Public Sector Equality Duty be undertaken by April 2014. 

3. Supporting Information 

3.1 The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 

3.2 In April 2010 the Equality Act gained Royal Assent with the aim of bringing 
numerous existing equality and discrimination related legislation into one 
single act.  Enshrined within the Act is the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED) which came into force on 5 April 2011.   
 

3.3 The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) contains general and specific duties 
that apply to all public bodies (and others) carrying out public functions.  The 
general duty set out in the Act requires public bodies and others who exercise 
public functions, to have due regard to the need to:  

  

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

• Advance equality of opportunity; and  

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it.  

 
3.4 These are sometimes referred to as the three arms of the general duty and 

have the purpose of integrating consideration of equality and good relations 
into the day-to-day business of public authorities.  Specifically public bodies 
will have to have due regard for advancing equality by: - 

  

Agenda Item 11

Page 61



 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics; 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where 
these are different from the needs of other people; 

• Encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life 
or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low. 

 
3.5 There are also specific duties as outlined in the PSED that require public 

bodies to publish one or more equality objectives (and then at intervals of not 
more than four years) as well as publish equality information annually.  The 
specific duties apply to all public authorities with the purpose to help 
compliance with the general equality duty by improving focus and 
transparency. 

  
3.6 The Act defines discrimination in terms of nine ‘protected characteristics’.  

These are: 

• Age;  

• Disability;  

• Gender reassignment;  

• Marriage and civil partnership;  

• Pregnancy and maternity;  

• Race;  

• Religion or belief,  

• Sex and  

• Sexual orientation. 
 

3.7 Applying the PSED into the Health and Wellbeing Board 

3.8 Torbay Council and South Devon and Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group 
(the CCG) have to comply with the PSED as public bodies.  In light of this, 
although the Health and Well Being Board itself does not need to comply, it is 
essential that it looks at how the decisions it makes and the services that are 
provided affect people who share different protected characteristics in order 
to ensure access to services meets the needs of the Torbay community 
addressing any equality concerns. 

 
3.9 Torbay Council’s published equality objectives include the following: 
 

Reducing health inequalities across Torbay through partnership 
working  
We will achieve this through delivering the (Draft) Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2012-15.  Priority areas include reducing the effects of child poverty, 
increasing participation in positive activities, protecting people at risk from 
abuse and neglect, improving the quality of life for people with long term 
conditions and increasing the range of integrated services in community 
settings. 

 
Improving outcomes for those people who live in areas of high 
deprivation  
We will achieve this through delivering the Health and Wellbeing Strategy to 
reduce the effects of child poverty, continuing to support the Hele’s Angels 

Page 62



 
project, ensure that the reform of the benefits system is communicated to 
those people affected by the welfare reform and that key changes are 
delivered and working to improve fuel poverty and health inequalities. 
 
Develop skills and learning opportunities  
We will achieve this through the delivery of the key outcomes in the Children 
and Young People’s Plan (CYPP), delivery of the Community Plan and the 
delivery of the Torbay Development Agency (TDA) Torbay Economic Strategy 
2010-15. 

 
3.10 The Equality Impact Assessment of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

(Appendix 1) highlights that there is currently a lack of understanding of the 
impacts on all of those groups with protected characteristics and their 
experiences in relation to healthcare, access to healthcare and wellbeing 
generally.  The associated Action Plan shows that the following need to be 
undertaken over the course of the year: 

 

• Refresh of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment to include fuller 
information about the needs of those with protected characteristics  

 

(As an example: What about understanding a ‘life course’ approach 

in relation to someone with a protected characteristic(s) i.e. if you 
are a female person with a disability, what is your life course?  
What do we know about the take up of services by women who 
have a learning disability in relation to routine breast and cervical 
screen tests for example?) 

• Refresh of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy to ensure that 
the needs identified within the refreshed JSNA are prioritised and 
met 

• Monitoring the implementation of the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy to include breakdowns by protected characteristic where 
applicable.  [This will highlight any potential areas of adverse 
impact.] 

 
3.11 In addition, the Local Government Association Development Tool for Health 

and Wellbeing Boards shows that, currently, the Health and Wellbeing Board 
should “understand the needs of diverse communities and is clear about its 
responsibilities under Equalities legislation and those of its partners”.  The 
Board should aim to be in the following positions by the ends of Year 1 and 
Year 3 respectively: 
 
“The Board can demonstrate that it promotes equality in all its actions 
including consultation, priority setting and service improvement, and 
undertakes equality impact assessments on its plans.” 
 
“The Board is a beacon of excellence in relation to equality and diversity and 
can show positive outcomes for the health and wellbeing of minority groups.” 

 

Page 63



 
3.12 In considering how the implementation of the Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy will be monitoring, consideration will need to be given to the three 
Outcomes Frameworks.  These enable national performance management of 
outcomes to be broken down into protected characteristics/socio-economic 
groups.  There have been suggestions around developing a local outcomes 
framework which reflects the local priorities for Torbay.  Any local framework 
would need to replicate the breakdown by protected characteristics/socio-
economic group.  

 

4. Relationship with Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
 
4.1 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment analyses the health needs of 

populations to inform and guide commissioning of health and wellbeing and 
social care services.  It outlines the need to focus on the population’s needs 
now and in the future.  The Board needs to gain an understanding of 
equalities issues and the needs of people with protected characteristics and 
identify areas of impact with regards to protected characteristics when looking 
at collective action to reduce inequalities.  In considering the wider 
determinants of health the Board needs to include the protected 
characteristics with society (such as a person’s race/ethnic background or 
whether they are born with a disability).  The Board also needs to understand 
the wider influences in relation to a person’s faith, gender, sexual orientation 
for example.  

 
5. Relationship with the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 
5.1 The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy sets out how the Board aims to 

address the needs identified in the JSNA.  Having gained a better 
understanding of the needs of those with protected characteristics, the Board 
may need to refresh its Strategy. 

 
6. Implications for the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Joint Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy 
 
6.1 In accordance with the Equality Impact Assessment for the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy, the Board needs to undertake a refresh of both the JSNA 
and JHWS over the coming year taking account of the Public Sector Equality 
Duty. 

 
Appendices 
 
Equality Impact Assessment for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 
 
Background Papers: 
The following documents/files were used to compile this report: 
None 
 
 
 

Page 64



 E
q

u
a

li
ty

 I
m

p
a

c
t 

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

(E
IA

):
  

  S
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 A
c
t 
2
0
1
0
 c
a
m
e
 i
n
to
 f
o
rc
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 w
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
m
e
e
t 
th
e
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
o
u
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 e
n
s
u
re
 w
e
 a
re
 a
n
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
is
 s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 w
it
h
in
 o
u
r 
w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
. 
T
h
is
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 

Im
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
(E
IA
) 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
s
 a
 t
o
o
l 
to
 e
n
a
b
le
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 u
n
it
s
 t
o
 f
u
lly
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 
  

 T
h
is
 E
IA
 w
ill
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
y
o
u
 h
a
v
e
 f
u
lly
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
/ 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 k
e
y
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
. 
T
h
e
 E
IA
 w
ill
 a
llo
w
 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 a
n
d
 S
e
n
io
r 
O
ff
ic
e
rs
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 i
n
fo
rm
e
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 d
e
c
is
io
n
-m
a
k
in
g
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 
 

   R
e
le

v
a
n

c
e
 T

e
s
t 

–
 ‘
A

 P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
a
te

 A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

’ 
 N
o
t 
a
ll 
o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 o
r 
s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 w
e
 p
u
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 w
ill
 b
e
 ‘
re
le
v
a
n
t’
 i
n
 t
e
rm
s
 o
f 
th
e
 a
c
tu
a
l 
o
r 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 
F
o
r 
in
s
ta
n
c
e
, 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 a
 s
u
p
p
lie
r 
o
f 
c
o
p
ie
r 
p
a
p
e
r 
m
a
y
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
 a
n
 E
IA
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 w
h
e
re
a
s
 a
 

re
p
o
rt
 o
u
tl
in
in
g
 a
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
fo
r 
a
 n
e
w
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
w
im
m
in
g
 p
o
o
l 
o
r 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 p
ro
p
o
s
in
g
 a
 c
lo
s
u
re
 o
f 
a
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 w
o
u
ld
. 
 

 T
h
e
re
fo
re
 b
e
fo
re
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 E
IA
 p
le
a
s
e
 a
n
s
w
e
r 
th
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
. 
If
 y
o
u
 a
n
s
w
e
r 
‘y
e
s
’ 
to
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 b
e
lo
w
 y
o
u
 m
u
s
t 
c
o
m
p
le
te
 a
 

fu
ll 
E
IA
. 

 

1
)  

D
o
e
s
 t
h
is
 r
e
p
o
rt
 r
e
la
te
 t
o
 a
 k
e
y
 d
e
c
is
io
n
?
  

Y
 
N

 

2
) 

W
il
l 
th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
(i
.e
. 
a
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 e
ff
e
c
t/
c
h
a
n
g
e
) 
o
n
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 

fo
ll
o
w
in
g
: 

•
 
T
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 u
p
o
n
 t
h
e
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 o
r 
e
q
u
a
li
ty
 g
ro
u
p
s
) 

•
 
O
u
r 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

•
 
T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 o
u
r 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
, 
‘k
n
o
c
k
-o
n
’ 
e
ff
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
o
th
e
r 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 u
n
it
s
, 
o
u
r 

re
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
, 
fi
n
a
n
c
e
s
, 
le
g
a
l 
o
b
li
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
) 

  Y
 

Y
 

Y
 

 

  N
 

N
 

N
 

 

  N
a
m
e
 o
f 
R
e
p
o
rt
/P
ro
p
o
s
a
l/
S
tr
a
te
g
y
: 

D
ra
ft
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

N
a
m
e
 (
K
e
y
 O
ff
ic
e
r/
A
u
th
o
r)
: 

K
a
te
 S
p
e
n
c
e
r 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 U
n
it
: 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

P
o
s
it
io
n
: 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 L
e
a
d
 

T
e
l:
 

0
1
8
0
3
 2
0
7
0
1
4
 

D
a
te
: 

4
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
3
 

E
m
a
il
: 

k
a
te
.s
p
e
n
c
e
r@

to
rb
a
y
.g
o
v
.u
k
  

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1

Page 65



 
 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
: 
P
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l/
s
tr
a
te
g
y
/d
e
c
is
io
n
 

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

1
. 

C
le
a
rl
y
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
th
e
 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
is
 t
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 p
re
p
a
re
d
, 
o
n
 b
e
h
a
lf
 o
f 

T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
(t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il)
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 S
o
u
th
 D
e
v
o
n
 a
n
d
 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
lin
ic
a
l 
C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
 (
th
e
 C
C
G
).
 

 T
h
e
 p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 a
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 A
c
t 

2
0
1
1
. 
  

 T
h
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 s
e
ts
 o
u
t 
h
o
w
 T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 w
ill
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 

to
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 t
h
e
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 
 I
t 
e
x
p
la
in
s
 w
h
a
t 
th
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
re
 i
n
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 j
o
in
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 a
 r
e
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 p
e
o
p
le
’s
 l
iv
e
s
. 

2
. 

W
h
o
 i
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 

/ 
w
h
o
 w
il
l 
b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
?
 

T
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
a
im
 o
f 
th
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
s
 a
 w
h
o
le
 t
o
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 g
o
o
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
lif
e
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 a
 s
e
t 
o
f 
c
o
re
 u
n
d
e
rl
y
in
g
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 u
n
d
e
rp
in
 t
h
e
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
: 

 F
ir
s
t 
a
n
d
 M
o
s
t 
–
 F
o
c
u
s
in
g
 a
tt
e
n
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
ff
o
rt
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 t
h
a
t 
e
x
is
t 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 w
it
h
in
 T
o
rb
a
y
 

 E
a
rl
y
 I
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 –
 I
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 u
lt
im
a
te
ly
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 c
o
s
t 
w
it
h
 a
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 r
a
th
e
r 

th
a
n
 t
re
a
tm
e
n
t 

 In
te
g
ra
te
d
 a
n
d
 j
o
in
e
d
-u
p
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 –
 J
o
in
in
g
 u
p
 p
la
n
n
in
g
, 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
t 
a
 l
o
c
a
l 
le
v
e
l 

 T
h
e
re
fo
re
, 
w
h
ils
t 
th
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 a
im
e
d
 a
t 
a
ll 
g
ro
u
p
s
 i
n
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 o
f 
T
o
rb
a
y
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
, 
th
e
re
 a
re
 

ta
rg
e
te
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
ro
u
n
d
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 g
ro
u
p
s
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
: 

•
 
C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 

•
 
O
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 n
e
e
d
s
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 

•
 
T
h
o
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 w
a
rd
s
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 

•
 
C
a
re
rs
 

Page 66



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

3
. 

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
?
 

T
h
e
 V
is
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 i
s
: 

 A
 H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
T
o
rb
a
y
: 
 W
h
e
re
 w
e
 w
o
rk
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 e
n
a
b
le
 e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 t
o
 e
n
jo
y
 a
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
, 
s
a
fe
 a
n
d
 f
u
lf
ill
in
g
 l
if
e
 

 T
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
is
 v
is
io
n
, 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 h
a
v
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 i
ts
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
h
re
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
: 

 

•
 
C
h
ild
re
n
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 
s
ta
rt
 i
n
 l
if
e
 

•
 
A
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
 w
it
h
 a
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 g
a
p
 i
n
 l
if
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
n
c
y
 

•
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 

 
 

Page 67



 
S
e
c
ti
o
n
 2
: 
E
q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

 

T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 a
 m
o
ra
l 
o
b
lig
a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 a
 d
u
ty
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 A
c
t 
2
0
1
0
 t
o
 e
lim

in
a
te
 d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
p
ro
m
o
te
 g
o
o
d
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
a
n
c
e
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 s
h
a
re
 a
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
 a
n
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 d
o
 n
o
t.
  

 T
h
e
 E
q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
e
c
ti
o
n
 e
n
s
u
re
s
 t
h
a
t,
 a
s
 a
 c
o
u
n
c
il,
 w
e
 t
a
k
e
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
th
e
 P
u
b
lic
 S
e
c
to
r 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 D
u
ty
 a
t 
a
n
 e
a
rl
y
 

s
ta
g
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
 f
u
lly
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
o
u
r 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 /
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 o
n
 t
h
e
 T
o
rb
a
y
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 

 E
v
id
e
n
c
e
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

  

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

4
. 

H
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
e
 

a
v
a
il
a
b
le
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
?
  

T
h
e
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 g
ro
u
n
d
e
d
 i
n
 a
 f
ir
m
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 

n
e
e
d
s
, 
a
n
d
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
tr
e
n
d
s
 a
n
d
 d
ri
v
e
rs
 a
s
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
(J
S
N
A
).
 

 T
h
e
 t
o
p
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 J
S
N
A
 a
re
: 

 

•
 
In
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
, 
p
u
b
lic
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
a
fe
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 o
n
 a
 l
o
c
a
lit
y
 b
a
s
is
 

•
 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 b
y
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
rs
 

•
 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
lo
n
g
 t
e
rm
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 

•
 
A
lc
o
h
o
l 
a
n
d
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 p
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
 

 T
h
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 S
u
m
m
a
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 J
S
N
A
 h
ig
h
lig
h
ts
: 

 

•
 
T
h
e
re
 a
re
 p
o
c
k
e
ts
 o
f 
s
e
v
e
re
 d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
, 
w
it
h
 a
ro
u
n
d
 1
5
%
 (
2
1
,0
0
0
) 
o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
 

a
re
a
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
p
 1
0
%
 m
o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 i
n
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 (
2
0
1
0
).
  

•
 
L
if
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
n
c
y
 i
s
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
tl
y
 h
ig
h
e
r 
in
 t
h
e
 l
e
a
s
t 
d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
a
n
d
 p
re
v
e
n
ta
b
le
 m
o
rt
a
lit
y
, 
s
u
c
h
 

a
s
 f
ro
m
 d
is
e
a
s
e
s
 a
tt
ri
b
u
te
d
 t
o
 s
m
o
k
in
g
, 
is
 h
ig
h
e
s
t 
in
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
. 
 

•
 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
o
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m
o
re
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
e
n
d
 t
o
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
t 
a
 y
o
u
n
g
e
r 
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 

liv
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
a
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
p
e
ri
o
d
. 
 

•
 
A
re
a
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 g
re
a
te
s
t 
le
v
e
ls
 o
f 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 s
h
o
w
 h
ig
h
e
r 
ra
te
s
 o
f 
re
c
o
rd
e
d
 d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 a
b
u
s
e
, 
h
ig
h
e
r 
ra
te
s
 

Page 68



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

o
f 
te
e
n
a
g
e
 p
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
, 
h
ig
h
e
r 
ra
te
s
 o
f 
a
lc
o
h
o
l 
re
la
te
d
 a
d
m
is
s
io
n
s
 t
o
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
o
re
s
t 

c
o
n
d
it
io
n
. 
 

•
 
C
h
ild
re
n
 b
o
rn
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m
o
re
 d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
o
n
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
, 
a
re
 b
o
rn
 i
n
to
 a
re
a
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
s
 o
f 

p
o
v
e
rt
y
, 
lo
w
e
r 
le
v
e
ls
 o
f 
a
tt
a
in
m
e
n
t,
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 e
x
p
o
s
u
re
 t
o
 r
is
k
 t
a
k
in
g
 b
e
h
a
v
io
u
rs
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 b
e
in
g
 

b
o
rn
 t
o
 a
 s
m
o
k
e
r.
  

•
 
T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 c
h
ild
re
n
 h
a
v
e
 h
ig
h
 r
a
te
s
 o
f 
h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
a
d
m
is
s
io
n
s
 f
o
r 
u
n
in
te
n
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 i
n
ju
ri
e
s
. 
In
ju
ri
e
s
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 l
in
k
e
d
 t
o
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm
 h
e
a
lt
h
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
n
ju
ry
, 
a
n
d
 a
ls
o
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 r
e
la
te
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
. 
 

•
 
T
h
e
 r
a
te
s
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
b
y
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
, 
th
e
 r
a
te
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

ra
te
 o
f 
c
h
ild
re
n
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 c
h
ild
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 a
re
 a
m
o
n
g
s
t 
th
e
 h
ig
h
e
s
t 
in
 E
n
g
la
n
d
. 
 

•
 
T
o
rb
a
y
 h
a
s
 a
 h
ig
h
e
r 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
. 

T
h
is
 h
ig
h
e
r 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 i
s
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
m
in
g
 y
e
a
rs
. 
 

•
 
L
if
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
n
c
y
 a
t 
6
5
 i
s
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
 h
ig
h
e
r 
fo
r 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 t
h
a
n
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 E
n
g
la
n
d
. 
W
it
h
 m
a
le
s
 

e
s
ti
m
a
te
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 f
o
r 
a
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
1
8
.9
 y
e
a
rs
 a
n
d
 f
e
m
a
le
s
 2
1
.4
 y
e
a
rs
. 
 

•
 
L
o
c
a
lly
, 
lif
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
n
c
y
 a
t 
7
5
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 s
h
o
w
s
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
v
a
ri
a
ti
o
n
 b
y
 d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 q
u
in
ti
le
. 
T
h
o
s
e
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
 

th
e
 m
o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 2
0
%
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 c
a
n
 e
x
p
e
c
t 
to
 l
iv
e
, 
o
n
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
, 
s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
tl
y
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

le
a
s
t 
d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 2
0
%
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
. 
 

 T
h
e
 J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
is
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 f
u
ll 
a
t 
w
w
w
.t
o
rb
a
y
.g
o
v
.u
k
/j
s
n
a
 

 T
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 b
re
a
k
d
o
w
n
 b
y
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 

c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
 w
it
h
in
 e
a
c
h
 i
s
s
u
e
 c
o
v
e
re
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 

 

Page 69



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

5
. 

H
o
w
 h
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l?
 

T
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
a
s
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 w
h
ic
h
 

c
o
m
p
ri
s
e
s
 o
f 
fo
u
r 
T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
, 
th
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 (
b
o
th
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il)
, 
th
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 
th
e
 A
c
c
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
o
f 
S
o
u
th
 D
e
v
o
n
 a
n
d
 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
lin
ic
a
l 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 a
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
In
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
N
e
tw
o
rk
 (
L
IN
k
)/
H
e
a
lt
h
w
a
tc
h
. 
  

 T
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 a
ls
o
 t
o
o
k
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
th
e
 w
id
e
r 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 F
o
ru
m
 w
h
ic
h
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 f
ro
m
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 s
e
c
to
rs
: 

 

•
 
C
ri
m
in
a
l 
J
u
s
ti
c
e
 

•
 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 

•
 
C
u
lt
u
re
 a
n
d
 L
e
is
u
re
 

•
 
O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 

•
 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

•
 
V
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 S
e
c
to
r 

•
 
C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 

•
 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 P
ro
v
id
e
rs
 

 T
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 V
is
io
n
, 
P
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
, 
O
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 w
e
re
 a
g
re
e
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
t 
th
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
th
e
 

S
h
a
d
o
w
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 h
e
ld
 o
n
 2
0
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
. 

 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 P
o
lic
y
, 
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 R
e
v
ie
w
 T
e
a
m
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
d
 a
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 

d
a
ta
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 2
4
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 3
1
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
. 
 A
ll 
th
o
s
e
 i
n
v
it
e
d
 t
o
 a
n
d
/o
r 
a
tt
e
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
e
llb
e
in
g
 F
o
ru
m
 o
n
 2
0
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
 w
e
re
 i
n
v
it
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
 a
n
 o
n
lin
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 g
iv
e
 t
h
e
ir
 v
ie
w
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

d
ra
ft
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
’s
 V
is
io
n
, 
P
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
, 
O
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 
 T
h
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 w
a
s
 a
ls
o
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 t
h
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 

p
u
b
lic
 o
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w
e
b
s
it
e
 a
n
d
 w
a
s
 p
u
b
lic
is
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 m
o
n
th
ly
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 N
e
w
s
le
tt
e
r 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 s
e
n
t 
to
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 V
ie
w
P
o
in
t 
P
a
n
e
l,
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
rs
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 e
x
p
re
s
s
e
d
 a
 w
is
h
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 d
id
 n
o
t 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 h
a
rd
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
 g
ro
u
p
s
 o
r 
th
o
s
e
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 g
ro
u
p
s
 w
it
h
 

p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
. 

 

Page 70



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

6
. 

O
u
tl
in
e
 t
h
e
 k
e
y
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 

  

T
h
e
 v
a
s
t 
m
a
jo
ri
ty
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
e
 V
is
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 

B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 t
h
re
e
 u
n
d
e
rl
y
in
g
 P
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 u
p
o
n
 w
h
ic
h
 i
t 
is
 b
u
ilt
. 
 T
h
e
 m
a
jo
ri
ty
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
in
g
 a
ls
o
 f
e
lt
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 v
is
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 i
f 
e
a
c
h
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 O
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 w
e
re
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
. 

 M
o
s
t 
o
f 
th
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 a
ls
o
 “
s
tr
o
n
g
ly
 a
g
re
e
d
” 
o
r 
“a
g
re
e
d
” 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 w
e
re
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
e
a
c
h
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
. 

 T
h
e
 s
m
a
ll 
n
u
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 m
e
a
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 n
o
t 
s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
a
lly
 r
e
lia
b
le
 t
o
 e
x
tr
a
p
o
la
te
 t
h
e
 

re
s
u
lt
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 a
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 b
re
a
k
d
o
w
n
. 

 T
h
e
 f
u
ll 
re
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 a
t 
h
tt
p
:/
/w
w
w
.t
o
rb
a
y
.g
o
v
.u
k
/h
e
a
lt
h
w
e
llb
e
in
g
s
u
rv
e
y
 

 

7
. 

W
h
a
t 
a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
y
 

b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 

th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
?
 

 

A
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
w
o
 m
a
in
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
e
re
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 

B
o
a
rd
: 

 

•
 
A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 V
is
io
n
 t
o
 r
e
a
d
: 

“A
 H
e
a
lt
h
ie
r 
T
o
rb
a
y
: 
 W
h
e
re
 w
e
 w
o
rk
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
s
o
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 t
o
 e
n
jo
y
s
 a
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
, 
s
a
fe
 a
n
d
 

fu
lf
ill
in
g
 l
if
e
” 

 (T
h
is
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 w
o
rd
in
g
 r
e
fl
e
c
ts
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
ro
le
 o
f 
th
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 a
s
 a
n
 e
n
a
b
lin
g
 a
n
d
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
in
g
 (
ra
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
) 
b
o
d
y
.)
 

 

•
 
A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
O
u
tc
o
m
e
 2
 t
o
 r
e
a
d
: 

“A
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
 w
it
h
 a
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 g
a
p
 i
n
 l
if
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
n
c
y
” 

 (T
h
e
re
 w
e
re
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
w
, 
g
iv
e
n
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
re
 l
iv
in
g
 l
o
n
g
e
r,
 w
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 

p
e
o
p
le
 h
a
v
in
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
, 
lo
n
g
e
r 
liv
e
s
 r
a
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 a
 f
o
c
u
s
 p
u
re
ly
 o
n
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 g
a
p
 i
n
 l
if
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
n
c
y
.)
 

 A
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 a
g
re
e
d
 o
r 
n
o
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
’s
 V
is
io
n
, 
O
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

v
ie
w
s
 w
e
re
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
a
b
o
u
t 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
a
n
y
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 w
e
re
 m
is
s
in
g
 f
ro
m
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 t
h
re
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
. 
 A
 w
id
e
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 

Page 71



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 w
e
re
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
n
d
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
s
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 l
is
te
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
e
a
c
h
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
. 
 E
x
a
m
p
le
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
: 

 

•
 
P
a
re
n
ta
l 
in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 p
a
re
n
ti
n
g
 s
k
ill
s
 –
 t
h
is
 i
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 2
 

•
 
P
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
, 
s
p
o
rt
in
g
 a
n
d
 o
u
td
o
o
r 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
, 
s
p
o
rt
s
 a
n
d
 l
e
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 –
 t
h
is
 i
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 7
 

•
 
F
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 o
ld
e
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
 –
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 c
h
ild
re
n
 o
f 
a
ll 
a
g
e
s
 

•
 
S
e
lf
 e
s
te
e
m
 –
 t
h
is
 i
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 1
 a
n
d
 1
4
 

•
 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 c
a
re
 f
o
r 
th
e
 e
ld
e
rl
y
 –
 t
h
is
 i
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 1
1
 a
n
d
 1
4
 

•
 
E
n
d
 o
f 
lif
e
 c
a
re
 –
 t
h
is
 i
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 1
3
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r,
 s
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 r
a
is
e
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
a
s
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
’s
 r
o
le
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
s
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
m
in
g
 

m
o
n
th
s
, 
in
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
lin
k
s
 a
re
 m
a
d
e
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 a
n
d
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

p
u
b
lic
 s
e
c
to
r.
  
F
o
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
: 

 

•
 
D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
: 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 w
a
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
 i
ts
 l
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 S
tr
o
n
g
e
r 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 B
o
a
rd
 

 •
 
V
e
te
ra
n
s
: 
th
is
 w
a
s
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 N
H
S
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
  

 

•
 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
F
a
c
to
rs
/H
e
a
lt
h
y
 F
o
o
d
: 
it
 w
a
s
 f
e
lt
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
s
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
ic
k
e
d
 u
p
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
  

 

•
 
S
c
h
o
o
ls
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
: 
th
is
 i
s
s
u
e
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
o
f 
a
 f
u
tu
re
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 

F
o
ru
m
. 
C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 h
o
w
 t
o
 f
u
lly
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 i
n
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
. 
 

 
 

 

Page 72



 
P
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
n
d
 N
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
ts
  

  

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
ils
  

8
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
n
d
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 o
n
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

 

 
P
o
s
it
iv
e
 I
m
p
a
c
t 

N
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 I
m
p
a
c
t 

N
e
u
tr
a
l 
Im
p
a
c
t 

A
ll 
g
ro
u
p
s
 i
n
 s
o
c
ie
ty
 

g
e
n
e
ra
lly
 

T
h
e
 a
im
 o
f 
th
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 t
o
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 

b
e
in
g
 o
f 
e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
. 

 

 
O
u
r 
m
o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 p
o
o
re
s
t 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

w
e
llb
e
in
g
, 
th
e
re
fo
re
 a
 s
y
s
te
m
a
ti
c
a
lly
 

ta
rg
e
te
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

g
e
o
g
ra
p
h
ic
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 a
n
d
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 a
t 
g
re
a
te
s
t 
n
e
e
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 

ta
k
e
n
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 

th
e
 F
ir
s
t 
a
n
d
 M
o
s
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
. 

 C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 m
a
y
 a
ls
o
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 

h
a
v
in
g
 a
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 b
a
s
e
d
 

o
n
 a
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 b
re
a
k
d
o
w
n
. 

O
ld
e
r 
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

 
T
h
e
 M
a
rm
o
t 
R
e
v
ie
w
 i
n
 2
0
1
0
 (
F
a
ir
e
r 

S
o
c
ie
ty
, 
F
a
ir
e
r 
L
iv
e
s
) 
w
a
s
 c
le
a
r 
th
a
t 

w
h
a
t 
a
 c
h
ild
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
s
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
ir
 

e
a
rl
y
 y
e
a
rs
 l
a
y
s
 d
o
w
n
 a
 f
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

fo
r 
th
e
 w
h
o
le
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 l
if
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
is
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
re
a
d
in
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
tt
a
in
m
e
n
t.
  

 W
h
e
re
 a
 c
h
ild
 l
iv
e
s
 i
s
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
a
s
 

c
h
ild
re
n
 f
ro
m
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
s
 a
re
 m
o
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 

b
e
g
in
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
w
it
h
 l
o
w
e
r 

 
  

Page 73



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
ils
  

p
e
rs
o
n
a
l,
 s
o
c
ia
l 
a
n
d
 e
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
, 

la
n
g
u
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 l
it
e
ra
c
y
 s
k
ill
s
 t
h
a
n
 

th
e
ir
 p
e
e
r.
 T
h
e
re
fo
re
, 
if
 w
e
 d
o
 n
o
t 

s
u
c
c
e
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 b
e
g
in
n
in
g
 i
n
 a
 c
h
ild
’s
 

lif
e
, 
th
e
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
s
 a
re
 f
a
r 

re
a
c
h
in
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 r
e
s
t 
o
f 
th
e
ir
 y
e
a
rs
. 
 

 T
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 

w
a
n
ts
 a
ll 
fa
m
ili
e
s
 t
o
 r
e
a
lis
e
 t
h
e
ir
 

c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l,
 h
e
lp
in
g
 t
h
e
m
 t
o
 

p
re
p
a
re
 f
ro
m
 a
n
 e
a
rl
y
 a
g
e
 t
o
 b
e
 s
e
lf
-

s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t,
 w
it
h
 a
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 o
f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

to
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
m
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
iv
e
s
. 
It
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
s
 

th
a
t 
s
o
m
e
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 m
o
re
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
a
n
 o
th
e
rs
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 

w
it
h
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
. 

 T
h
e
re
fo
re
 O
u
tc
o
m
e
 1
 o
f 
th
e
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 t
h
a
t 
“C
h
ild
re
n
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 

b
e
s
t 
s
ta
rt
 i
n
 l
if
e
”.
 

 T
o
rb
a
y
 h
a
s
 a
 h
ig
h
e
r 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 

o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
. 
 

A
n
 a
g
e
d
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 p
la
c
e
s
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 o
n
 b
o
th
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
. 

 T
h
e
re
 a
re
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 u
n
d
e
r 

Page 74



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
ils
  

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 2
 “
A
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
 w
it
h
 a
 

re
d
u
c
e
d
 g
a
p
 i
n
 l
if
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
n
c
y
” 
a
n
d
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 3
 “
Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
” 
w
h
ic
h
 a
im
 t
o
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 o
f 

o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
. 

P
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 c
a
ri
n
g
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 

U
n
d
e
r 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 1
3
 “
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
liv
in
g
”,
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 a
im
s
 t
o
 “
Id
e
n
ti
fy
 

a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 u
n
p
a
id
 c
a
re
rs
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

c
a
ri
n
g
 r
o
le
 a
n
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 l
if
e
 a
p
a
rt
 

fr
o
m
 c
a
ri
n
g
; 
in
v
o
lv
e
 c
a
re
rs
 i
n
 a
ll 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
m
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
e
y
 c
a
re
 f
o
r”
. 

 T
h
e
re
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 

a
ro
u
n
d
 p
a
re
n
ts
. 

 
  

P
e
o
p
le
 w

it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

 
T
h
e
re
 a
re
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 u
n
d
e
r 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 1
3
 “
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

liv
in
g
” 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 a
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
. 

 
  

W
o
m
e
n
 o
r 
m
e
n
 

 
It
 i
s
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
w
o
m
e
n
 t
e
n
d
 t
o
 

liv
e
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
th
a
n
 m
e
n
. 
 W
h
ils
t 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 2
 s
e
e
k
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
 

h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
 f
o
r 
a
ll,
 i
t 
a
ls
o
 s
e
e
k
s
 t
o
 

re
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 g
a
p
 i
n
 l
if
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
n
c
y
. 

 
  

P
e
o
p
le
 w

h
o
 a
re
 b
la
c
k
 o
r 

fr
o
m
 a
 m

in
o
ri
ty
 e
th
n
ic
 

b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
 (
B
M
E
) 
 

 
 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 t
o
 d
is
ti
n
g
u
is
h
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 (
fo
r 

e
x
a
m
p
le
 a
ro
u
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
, 
is
o
la
ti
o
n
 e
tc
) 
o
n
 t
h
o
s
e
 

Page 75



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
ils
  

w
it
h
 t
h
is
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
. 

R
e
lig

io
n
 o
r 
b
e
lie
f 
(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

la
c
k
 o
f 
b
e
lie

f)
 

  
 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 t
o
 d
is
ti
n
g
u
is
h
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 (
fo
r 

e
x
a
m
p
le
 a
ro
u
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
, 
is
o
la
ti
o
n
 e
tc
) 
o
n
 t
h
o
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
is
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
. 

P
e
o
p
le
 w

h
o
 a
re
 l
e
s
b
ia
n
, 
g
a
y
 

o
r 
b
is
e
x
u
a
l 

 
 

 T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 t
o
 d
is
ti
n
g
u
is
h
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 (
fo
r 

e
x
a
m
p
le
 a
ro
u
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
, 
is
o
la
ti
o
n
 e
tc
) 
o
n
 t
h
o
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
is
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
. 

P
e
o
p
le
 w

h
o
 a
re
 

tr
a
n
s
g
e
n
d
e
re
d
 

 
 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 t
o
 d
is
ti
n
g
u
is
h
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 (
fo
r 

e
x
a
m
p
le
 a
ro
u
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
, 
is
o
la
ti
o
n
 e
tc
) 
o
n
 t
h
o
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
is
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
. 

P
e
o
p
le
 w

h
o
 a
re
 i
n
 a
 

m
a
rr
ia
g
e
 o
r 
c
iv
il 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

 
 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 t
o
 d
is
ti
n
g
u
is
h
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 (
fo
r 

e
x
a
m
p
le
 a
ro
u
n
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
, 
is
o
la
ti
o
n
 e
tc
) 
o
n
 t
h
o
s
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
is
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
. 

W
o
m
e
n
 w

h
o
 a
re
 p
re
g
n
a
n
t 
/ 

o
n
 m

a
te
rn
it
y
 l
e
a
v
e
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 3
 i
s
 t
o
 “
R
e
d
u
c
e
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 

p
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
” 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
n
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

u
n
d
e
r 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 6
 “
R
e
d
u
c
e
 s
m
o
k
in
g
” 

ta
rg
e
ti
n
g
 m
o
th
e
rs
 w
h
o
 a
re
 p
re
g
n
a
n
t.
 

 

 
  

Page 76



 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
ils
  

9
. 

Is
 t
h
e
re
 s
c
o
p
e
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
r 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
to
 e
li
m
in
a
te
 

d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
p
ro
m
o
te
 

e
q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 

/ 
o
r 
fo
s
te
r 
g
o
o
d
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
?
 

T
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
a
im
 o
f 
th
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
s
 a
 w
h
o
le
 t
o
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 g
o
o
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
lif
e
. 
  

 T
h
e
re
 a
re
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
h
ic
h
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
is
s
u
e
s
 f
a
c
in
g
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 

c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 (
fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
, 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
, 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
c
h
ild
re
n
, 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
, 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
th
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 

d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 n
e
e
d
s
).
 

 
 

  S
e
c
ti
o
n
 3
: 
S
te
p
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
c
ts
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

 

N
o
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

1
0
. 

S
u
m
m
a
ri
s
e
 a
n
y
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 w
il
l 

b
e
 r
e
a
li
s
e
d
 m
o
s
t 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
?
 

 

T
h
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 o
n
 s
o
c
ie
ty
 i
n
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
a
n
d
, 
in
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r,
: 

 

•
 
O
ld
e
r 
a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 –
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
“C
h
ild
re
n
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 
s
ta
rt
 i
n
 l
if
e
” 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
O
u
tc
o
m
e
 2
 “
A
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
 w
it
h
 a
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 g
a
p
 i
n
 l
if
e
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
n
c
y
” 
a
n
d
 O
u
tc
o
m
e
 3
 “
Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 

m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
” 

•
 
P
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 c
a
ri
n
g
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 –
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 P
ri
o
ri
ty
 1
3
 “
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
liv
in
g
” 
a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 p
a
re
n
ts
 

•
 
P
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 –
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 P
ri
o
ri
ty
 1
3
 “
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
liv
in
g
” 

•
 
W
o
m
e
n
 w
h
o
 a
re
 p
re
g
n
a
n
t/
o
n
 m
a
te
rn
it
y
 l
e
a
v
e
 –
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 P
ri
o
ri
ty
 3
 “
R
e
d
u
c
e
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 p
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
” 
a
n
d
 P
ri
o
ri
ty
 

6
 “
R
e
d
u
c
e
 s
m
o
k
in
g
” 

 

1
1
. 

S
u
m
m
a
ri
s
e
 a
n
y
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
s
e
 

w
il
l 
b
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
d
?
 

 

W
h
ils
t 
n
o
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
, 
th
e
re
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
 l
a
c
k
 o
f 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 o
n
 a
ll 
o
f 

th
o
s
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 w
it
h
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
s
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
, 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 h
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 

a
n
d
 w
e
llb
e
in
g
 g
e
n
e
ra
lly
. 
 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
n
a
ly
s
is
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
y
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 a
re
 

m
it
ig
a
te
d
; 
th
is
 w
o
rk
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 b
y
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
4
. 
T
h
e
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 

re
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
t 
o
v
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
m
in
g
 y
e
a
rs
. 
 

 
 

Page 77



 
 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 4
: 
C
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
A
c
ti
o
n
 

 

N
o
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

1
2
. 

S
ta
te
 a
 c
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 

 [p
le
a
s
e
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

a
ft
e
r 
s
e
c
ti
o
n
 5
] 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 3
: 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
it
h
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
- 

D
e
s
p
it
e
 h

a
v
in

g
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 s

o
m

e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
fo

r 
a
d
v
e
rs

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
/ 
m

is
s
e
d
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 i
n
 

re
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 o

r 
to

 p
ro

m
o
te

 e
q
u
a
lit

y
. 
F

u
ll 

ju
s
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 

e
s
p
e
c
ia

lly
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
, 

in
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 d

u
ty

 
to

 h
a
v
e
 ‘
d
u
e
 r

e
g
a
rd

’.
 

 T
h
e
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 a
 n
e
w
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 c
o
u
n
c
ils
 a
n
d
 c
lin
ic
a
l 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 v
ia
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
s
. 
 R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 f
ro
m
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
is
 s
ti
ll 

a
w
a
it
e
d
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
w
 t
h
e
s
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
s
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 i
n
d
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
re
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
u
n
c
ils
 a
n
d
 c
lin
ic
a
l 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
d
 t
o
 

d
e
te
rm
in
e
 t
h
e
s
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 l
o
c
a
lly
. 

 T
h
e
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
ill
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 b
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 r
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
t 
o
v
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
m
in
g
 

y
e
a
rs
. 

 In
 t
h
is
 t
im
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
, 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 f
u
lly
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
o
s
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 (
a
n
d
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
) 
c
a
n
 b
e
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 r
e
-i
te
ra
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

  
S
e
c
ti
o
n
 5
: 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

 

N
o
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

1
3
. 

O
u
tl
in
e
 p
la
n
s
 t
o
 

m
o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 a
c
tu
a
l 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
y
o
u
r 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 

 

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 a
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 a
b
o
u
t 
h
o
w
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 w
ill
 m
o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

o
f 
th
e
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
 C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
 t
a
k
e
 u
p
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 o
f 

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
o
th
e
r 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 m
e
a
s
u
re
d
 s
h
o
w
in
g
 t
h
e
s
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 g
ro
u
p
 w
it
h
 a
 

p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
. 

 

Page 78



 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
  

 P
le
a
s
e
 d
e
ta
il 
b
e
lo
w
 a
n
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 y
o
u
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
: 
 

 N
o
. 
A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
a
s
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 /
 

c
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
il
it
y
 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 d
a
te
 

1
 

R
e
fr
e
s
h
 o
f 
th
e
 J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
to
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 f
u
lle
r 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 

w
it
h
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 

o
f 
a
ll 
s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
re
 f
u
lly
 

u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
. 

D
a
ta
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
4
 

2
 

R
e
fr
e
s
h
 o
f 
th
e
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 

n
e
e
d
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 r
e
fr
e
s
h
e
d
 

J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

a
re
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 a
n
d
 m
e
t.
 

T
o
 
e
n
s
u
re
 
th
a
t 
th
e
 
n
e
e
d
s
 

o
f 

a
ll 

s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 
o
f 

th
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 
a
re
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 

a
n
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
. 

J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

N
e
e
d
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
4
 

3
 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 b
re
a
k
d
o
w
n
s
 b
y
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 

c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 

T
o
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 o
f 

th
e
 J
o
in
t 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
e
llb
e
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
n
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
s
 a
 w
h
o
le
 

D
a
ta
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

W
e
llb
e
in
g
 B
o
a
rd
 

M
a
y
 2
0
1
3
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 

 

Page 79


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 South Devon & Torbay Clinical Commissioning Group Integrated Plan
	SDT CCG Integrated Plan 2013-15

	6 Update Report - Clinical Commissioning Group
	7 Update Report - Adult Services
	8 Update Report - Healthwatch
	11 Public Sector Equality Duty
	Public Sector Equality Duty Appendix 1


